
CITY OF FRANKLIN 

PLAN COMMISSION MEETING* 

FRANKLIN CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

9229 W. LOOMIS ROAD, FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN 

AGENDA 

THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 9, 2021, 7:00 P.M. 

               

The YouTube channel “City of Franklin WI” will be live streaming the Plan Commission 

meeting so that the public will be able to watch and listen to the meeting.  

https://www.youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov.   

 

 

A.   Call to Order and Roll Call 

 

B.  Approval of Minutes 

 

 1. Approval of regular meeting of August 5, 2021. 

 

C. Public Hearing Business Matters (action may be taken on all matters following  

                                                                      the respective Public Hearing thereon) 

 

1. BEAR DEVELOPMENT, LLC DUPLEX CONDOMINIUMS/SINGLE-

FAMILY HOME DEVELOPMENT.  Rezoning application by Stephen R. 

Mills, President of Bear Development, LLC (Boomtown, LLC, property owner), 

to rezone two properties on West Loomis Road, specifically, 12204 West Loomis 

Road and the adjacent property to the east, 12000 West Loomis Road, from R-8 

Multiple-Family Residence District and C-1 Conservancy District to R-8 

Multiple-Family Residence District, to comply with the conditions of approval of 

a Certified Survey Map for the Ryan Road duplexes project; Tax Key Nos. 891-

9996-000 and 891-9997-000.  A PUBLIC HEARING IS SCHEDULED FOR 

THIS MEETING UPON THIS MATTER. 

 

D. Business Matters (no Public Hearing is required upon the following matters; action may be   

                                           taken on all matters) 

 

1. DETACHED ACCESSORY BUILDING ADDITION TO AN 

ELECTRICAL CONTRACTING BUSINESS.  Site Plan Amendment 

application by John R. Prusinski, for the addition of an approximately 2,400 

square foot detached accessory building to Jemco, LLC, d/b/a Jemco Electric, an 

electrical contracting business (proposed building would face South North Cape 

Road, be used for storage, and include electric service, exterior lighting and a 

drive to service the building), upon property zoned B-2 General Business District,  

located at 11610 West Rawson Avenue; Tax Key No. 749-9999-000.  

2. PARKLAND ACQUISITION STUDY REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION  

 

 

https://www.youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov


Franklin Plan Commission Agenda 

9/9/21 

Page 2 

 

 

E. Adjournment 

 
*Supporting documentation and details of these agenda items are available at City hall during normal business hours. 
 

**Notice is given that a majority of the Common Council may attend this meeting to gather information about an agenda item over which they have 

decision-making responsibility.  This may constitute a meeting of the Common Council per State ex rel. Badke v. Greendale Village Board, even though the 
Common Council will not take formal action at this meeting. 

 

[Note: Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services.  For additional 
information, contact the City Clerk’s office at (414) 425-7500.] 

 

REMINDERS: 

Next Regular Plan Commission Meeting: September 23, 2021  



Page 1                Plan Commission – Minutes 
                           August 5, 2021  

 City of Franklin unapproved  
 Plan Commission Meeting                            

August 5, 2021 
Minutes 

 
A. Call to Order and Roll Call Acting Chair Commissioner Hogan called the August 5, 2021, 

regular Plan Commission meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the 
Council Chambers at Franklin City Hall, 9229 West Loomis 
Road, Franklin, Wisconsin.  
 
Present were Commissioners Hogan, Burckhardt and Hailey, 
and City Engineer Glen Morrow. Absent were Mayor Olson 
and Commissioner Leon. The aldermanic position is currently 
vacant. Also present were City Attorney Jesse Wesolowski, 
Principal Planner Régulo Martínez-Montilva and Associate 
Planner Marion Ecks. 
 

B. Approval of Minutes 
 

 

1. Regular Meeting of July 22, 2021 
 
 
 
C. Public Hearing Business Matters 
 
1. PLEASANT VIEW RESERVE 
RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION 
DEVELOPMENT AND TRAIL.  
Natural Resource Features Special 
Exception and Final Plat application by 
Veridian Homes, LLC, Franklin 49th 
Street LLC and Creative Custom 
Homes, LLC, property owners (VH 
PVR, LLC property owner for the 
Natural Resource Features Special 
Exception, Outlot 2), for a 53 lot 
single-family residential subdivision 
(which combines two previously 
proposed subdivision developments, 
Oak Ridge of Franklin Subdivision and 
Pleasant View Reserve Subdivision, 
into a single project (38.66 total 
acres)), containing two outlots, Outlot 
1 containing a stormwater detention 
pond and Outlot 2 consisting primarily 
of protected natural resource features, 
including an additional stormwater 
pond, also including the extension of 
Marquette Avenue from its current 
location westward to South 51st Street, 
to be completed as part of Phase 1 of 2 

Commissioner Haley moved and Commissioner Burckhardt  
seconded approval of the July 22, 2021 regular meeting 
minutes. On voice vote, all voted 'aye'. Motion carried (4-0-2).  
 
 
 
The Official Notice of Public hearing was read in to the record 
by Principal Planner Martínez and the Public Hearing was 
opened at 7:11 p.m. and closed at 7:12 p.m. 
 
Associate Planner Ecks presented these Natural Resource 
Features Special Exception and Final Plat applications by 
Veridian Homes, LLC, Franklin 49th Street LLC and Creative 
Custom Homes, LLC, property owners (VH PVR, LLC property 
owner. 
 
Natural Resource Special Exception 
 
City Engineer Morrow moved and Commissioner Hailey 
seconded a motion to recommend approval of the Veridian 
Homes, LLC, natural resource features special exception 
pursuant to the standards, findings and decision recommended 
by the Plan Commission and Common Council consideration 
of the Environmental Commission recommendations. In 
addition, recommended condition number 8 will be revised to 
require that there will be monitoring submitted on an annual 
basis. On voice vote, all voted 'aye'. Motion carried (4-0-2). 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 2                Plan Commission – Minutes 
                           August 5, 2021  

of the development which will include 
25 home sites, and an asphalt trail 
connecting the cul-de-sac of 49th Court 
southward and eastward to the City’s 
Pleasant View Park (Phase 2 includes 
28 remaining home sites); Natural 
Resource Features Special Exception 
application for the purpose of allowing 
for grading and fill of approximately 
1,905 square feet of wetland and 2,574 
square feet of wetland buffer (at 7501 
South 49th Street, Tax Key No. 791-
9979-003), for the development of the 
asphalt trail (culverts will be installed 
to maintain wetland hydrology and the 
applicant is proposing mitigation on 
site, adjacent to a nearby section of the 
same wetland), properties located at 
7475 South 49th Street and 7501 South 
49th Street, zoned R-6 Suburban 
Single-Family Residence District; Tax 
Key Nos. 759-9981-010 and 788-9981-
003. 
 
D. Business Matters 
 
1. TORBENSON SHOWS LLC 
HOLIDAY CRAFT AND GIFT 
EXPO AT THE MILWAUKEE 
COUNTY SPORTS COMPLEX.  
James C. Torbenson/Torbenson Shows 
LLC, for a holiday craft and gift expo at 
the Milwaukee County Sports Complex 
located at 6000 West Ryan Road, on 
Friday, November 26, 2021, from 9:00 
a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Saturday, November 
27, 2021 from 9:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m., 
and Sunday, November 28, 2021, from 
10:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m., on property 
zoned P-1 Park District, FC Floodplain 
Conservancy District and FW Floodway 
District; Tax Key Nos. 852-9999-001 
and 882-9987-001. 
 
2.  CLUBHOUSE ADDITION, 
PARTIAL RENOVATION OF THE 
MANAGEMENT OFFICES AND 
RENOVATION OF THE EXTERIOR 
SWIMMING POOL, DECK, POOL 
EQUIPMENT BUILDING AND 
BARBECUE AREA ADDITION.  

Final Plat 
 
City Engineer Morrow moved and Commissioner Hailey 
seconded a motion to recommend approval of a resolution 
conditionally approving a final plat for Pleasant View Reserve 
subdivision (at 7475 and 7501 south 49th street). On voice 
vote, all voted 'aye'. Motion carried (4-0-2). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Associate Planner Ecks presented a request by James C. 
Torbenson/Torbenson Shows LLC, for a holiday craft and 
gift expo at the Milwaukee County Sports Complex located at 
6000 West Ryan Road.  
 
City Engineer Morrow moved and Commissioner Hailey 
seconded a motion to adopt a resolution imposing conditions 
and restrictions for the approval of a temporary use for a 
holiday craft and gift expo for property located at 6000 West 
Ryan Road (Milwaukee County Sports Complex). On voice 
vote, all voted 'aye'. Motion carried (4-0-2). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Principal Planner Martínez presented a Site Plan 
Amendment application by Whitnall Pointe Limited 
Partnership, for a single-story addition of approximately 
1,200 square feet to the clubhouse building to expand and 
renovate the fitness center (hot tub upgrades, 
reconfiguration of the locker rooms (including replacing 
the saunas), creation of a recreation room with a 



Page 3                Plan Commission – Minutes 
                           August 5, 2021  

Site Plan Amendment application by 
Whitnall Pointe Limited Partnership, for 
a single-story addition of approximately 
1,200 square feet to the clubhouse 
building to expand and renovate the 
fitness center (hot tub upgrades, 
reconfiguration of the locker rooms 
(including replacing the saunas), creation 
of a recreation room with a kitchenette 
and a larger fitness center), partial 
renovation of the management offices 
located north of the existing fitness 
center, replacement of the exterior 
swimming pool, enlargement of the pool 
deck, addition of a new pool equipment 
building with a pergola and two toilet 
rooms and a grass barbecue area with 
charcoal grills and picnic tables, for 
Whitnall Pointe Apartment Homes, 
property zoned R-8 Multiple-Family 
Residence District, located at 10591 
West Cortez Circle; Tax Key No. 747-
0035-001. 
 
Adjournment 
 

kitchenette and a larger fitness center), partial renovation 
of the management offices located north of the existing 
fitness center, replacement of the exterior swimming pool, 
enlargement of the pool deck, addition of a new pool 
equipment building with a pergola and two toilet rooms 
and a grass barbecue area with charcoal grills and picnic 
tables, for Whitnall Pointe Apartment Homes.  
 
City Engineer Morrow moved and Commissioner Hailey 
seconded a motion to adopt a resolution amending the site 
plan for property located at 10591 West Cortez Circle to 
allow for renovations to the clubhouse and pool area of 
Whitnall Pointe Apartment Homes (tax key no. 747-0035-
001), removing the conditions noted in the engineering 
memo. On voice vote, all voted 'aye'. Motion carried (4-0-2). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Commissioner Hailey moved and Commissioner Burckhardt 
seconded to adjourn the Plan Commission meeting of August 
5, 2021 at 7:23 p.m. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion 
carried. (4-0-2). 

  
 



      C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N       
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

 
Meeting of September 9, 2021 

 

Rezoning 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  City Development Staff recommends approval of this rezoning request 
submitted by Boomtown, LLC, subject to the conditions in the draft resolution.   

Project Name:  Boomtown rezoning 
Project Location: 12000 W Loomis Road, approximately a quarter mile west 

of the intersection of Loomis Road and Ryan Road 
Property Owner: Boomtown, LLC 
Applicant: S.R. Mills. Boomtown, LLC 
Agent: Daniel Szczap. Bear Development, LLC 
Current Zoning:  R-8 Multiple-Family Residence District & C-1 

Conservancy District 
Proposed Zoning:  R-8 Multiple-Family Residence District 
2025 Comprehensive Plan: Commercial, Residential-Multifamily and Areas of Natural 

Resources 
Applicant’s Action Requested: Recommendation of approval of this rezoning 
Planner: Régulo Martínez-Montilva, Principal Planner 

 
Introduction  
Rezoning application to amend the city’s zoning map for two (2) properties on West Loomis 
Road, specifically 12204 W Loomis Rd. and the adjacent property to the east bearing tax key 
number 891-9996-000. The proposed rezoning is from R-8 Multiple-Family Residence District 
and C-1 Conservancy District to only R-8 Multiple-Family Residence District. In other words, 
the purpose of this rezoning is to remove the C-1 Conservancy District to comply with the 
conditions of approval of the Certified Survey Map (CSM) for the Ryan Road Duplexes project, 
this CSM was approved on July 20, by the Common Council. The C-1 is an obsolete zoning 
district because it exists only in the zoning map without any development standards in the zoning 
ordinance text. 
 
There are natural resources such as wetlands with associated buffers and setbacks in the area to 
be rezoned as depicted in the Natural Resources Protection Plan (NRPP). These natural resources 
will need to be protected by a separate conservation easement prior to any disturbance activity. 
 
Project Description and Analysis 
This rezoning request has been submitted to comply with condition #9 of Resolution No. 7754 
which states as follows: “The applicant shall obtain approval of a rezoning from the Common 
Council to remove the existing C-1 Conservancy District zoning, prior to any special use or site 
plan approval for Lot 1”. 

Item C.1. 



 2 

It can be noted that the C-1 zoning text had been removed from the City’s Unified Development 
Ordinance a number of years ago, in part because the data the C-1 zoning district boundaries were 
based upon had become inaccurate.  However, the City’s zoning map had not been revised at that 
time.  Therefore, it has become common practice for the City to require rezoning to remove the C-
1 district from the City’s zoning map when a new project with more accurate information becomes 
available. 
 
Comprehensive Master Plan Consistency 
As noted, the City of Franklin 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan (CMP) identifies parts of the 
subject properties as ‘Areas of Natural Resource Features.’  
 
Given that a conservation easement will be required prior to land disturbance activities, it can be 
noted that the proposed rezoning to remove the C-1 district from this property is consistent with 
the following goals and objectives set forth within the Comprehensive Master Plan, which can be 
found in Chapter 2 Issues & Opportunities:  
 
• #1. Preserve and enhance the City’s community character, including individual 

planning area identities, while directing growth and development. (see Chapter 2). 
 

o Protect the City’s remaining natural resource features. 
Staff comment: Recording a conservation easement will be required prior to 
develop this property. 
 

• #2. Protect environmental resources. (see Chapter 3) 
 

o Discourage incompatible development and alteration of floodplains, lakes, rivers 
and streams, wetlands, shorelands, steep slopes, and woodland areas so as to 
preserve the integrity of these resources and to promote the ecological value of 
these assets, and to minimize adverse impacts upon adjacent properties. 
Staff comment: The existing wetlands and woodlands depicted in the Natural 
Resource Protection Plan (NRPP) will not be impacted with this rezoning, natural 
resource protection standards still apply. 

 
Recommendation: 
A motion to recommend approval of the proposed Rezoning as presented by Boomtown, LLC. 
 



 
STATE OF WISCONSIN               CITY OF FRANKLIN             MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
                             [Draft 8-25-21] 

ORDINANCE NO. 2021-____ 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE  
(ZONING MAP) TO REZONE LOT 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 9338 CERTAIN 

PARCELS OF LAND FROM R-8  
MULTIPLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE DISTRICT AND C-1 CONSERVANCY  

DISTRICT TO R-8 MULTIPLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE DISTRICT 
(LOCATED AT 12000 WEST LOOMIS ROAD AND 12204 WEST LOOMIS ROAD) 

(APPROXIMATELY 15 ACRES) 
(STEPHEN R. MILLS, PRESIDENT OF BEAR DEVELOPMENT, LLC, APPLICANT) 

              
 
 WHEREAS, Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear Development, LLC having 
petitioned for the rezoning of approximately 15 acres of land [the Rezoning is to comply with 
the conditions of approval of a Certified Survey Map for the Ryan Road duplexes project], 
from R-8 Multiple-Family Residence District and C-1 Conservancy District to R-8 Multiple-
Family Residence District, such land located at 12204 West Loomis Road and the adjacent 
property to the east, 12000 West Loomis Road; and 
 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the City of Franklin Plan Commission 
on the 9th day of September, 2021, upon the aforesaid petition and the Plan Commission 
thereafter having determined that the proposed rezoning would promote the health, safety 
and welfare of the City and having recommended approval thereof to the Common Council; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the Common Council having considered the petition and having 

concurred with the recommendation of the Plan Commission and having determined that the 
proposed rezoning is consistent with the 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan of the City of 
Franklin, Wisconsin and would promote the health, safety and welfare of the Community. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the Mayor and Common Council of the City of Franklin, 
Wisconsin, do ordain as follows: 
 
SECTION 1: §15-3.0102 (Zoning Map) of the Unified Development Ordinance of 

the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, is hereby amended to provide that the 
zoning district designation for land located at 12204 West Loomis 
Road and the adjacent property to the east, 12000 West Loomis Road, 
described below, be changed from R-8 Multiple-Family Residence 
District and C-1 Conservancy District to R-8 Multiple-Family 
Residence District: 
 
 



 
ORDINANCE NO. 2021-____ 
Page 2 

 
Lot 1 of Certified Survey Map No. 9338, bBeing a part of the 
Southwest 1/4 and Northwest 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4 of Section 30, 
Township 5 North, Range 21 East, City of Franklin, Milwaukee 
County, Wisconsin.  Tax Key Nos. 891-9996-000 and 891-9997-000. 
 

SECTION 2:  The terms and provisions of this ordinance are severable.  Should any 
term or provision of this ordinance be found to be invalid by a court of  
competent jurisdiction, the remaining terms and provisions shall remain 
in full force and effect. 

 
SECTION 3: All ordinances and parts of ordinances in contravention to this 

ordinance are hereby repealed. 
 
SECTION 4: This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its 

passage and publication. 
 
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
______ day of __________________, 2021, by Alderman ___________________________. 

 
Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 

Franklin this ______ day of _______________________, 2021. 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
              
       Stephen R. Olson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
       
Sandra L. Wesolowski, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______  ABSENT ______    



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

12000 W. Loomis Road
12204 W. Loomis Road
TKN: 891 9996 000

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

R-8 

R-3 

R-2 

M-1 

C-1 R-8 

C-1 

LOOMIS
RD

RYAN                           RD   

MONARCH DR

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 460 920230 Feet

Property

 

PropertyProperties



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

12000 W. Loomis Road
12204 W. Loomis Road
TKN: 891 9996 000

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

W    CHICORY

W   LOOMIS    RD

W    L
OOMIS

W  LOOMIS CT.  

W    RYAN   RD

STH 36  /  U
SH 45

LOOMIS
RD

RYAN                           RD   

MONARCH DR

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 460 920230 Feet

Property

 

PropertyProperties













      C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N       
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

 
Meeting of September 9, 2021 

 
Site Plan amendment 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  City Development Staff recommends approval of the proposed site 
plan amendment for an accessory storage building for an electrical contractor business upon 
property located at 11610 West Rawson Avenue, subject to the conditions of approval in the 
attached draft resolution.        

Project Name:  Prusinski Site Plan amendment for storage accessory 

building 

Project Address: 11610 West Rawson Avenue 
Applicant: John Prusinski 
Property owner: John Prusinski 
Current Zoning: B-2 General Business District 
2025 Comprehensive Master Plan Commercial  
Use of Surrounding Properties: Single-family residential to the west across North Cape 

Road, vacant commercial land to the east and north, and 
Ken Windl Park (to the south).  

Applicant Action Requested: Recommendation of approval for the proposed Site Plan 
amendment. 

Planner: Régulo Martínez-Montilva, Principal Planner. 
 
 

INTRODUCTION: 
Site Plan amendment application submitted on April 2, 2021, to allow for the addition of a 
detached accessory building to an electrical contracting business. The proposed building would 
face S. North Cape Road and be used for storage, it would have electric service and exterior 
lighting. The floor area would be approximately 2,400 sf, this project also includes a drive to 
serve the building. 
 
City Development staff sent review comments to the applicant on April 30, the applicant 
requested additional time to address comment and resubmitted on August 13. The applicant has 
addressed most of the staff comments in his resubmittal, outstanding items are listed as 
conditions of approval in the attached resolution for consideration by the Plan Commission.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
The subject property received approval of a zoning permit by the Plan Commission on April 12, 
1990, for the operation of “Greenhouse and sale of bedding plants”. On January 9, 2018, the Plan 
Common Council granted a Special Use permit for electrical contractor business use per 
Resolution No. 2018-7340, this business is still running at this property. 

   Item D.1. 
 



 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS: 
The proposed accessory building would be used for storage, with electrical service but no 
heating or plumbing. The exterior materials and colors would match the existing principal 
building as noted by the applicant.  
 
The existing single-story principal building has a floor area of 3,386 sf, with the proposed 2,400 
sf accessory building, the resulting net floor area ratio (NFAR) would be 5,786 sf or (0.14) while 
the maximum NFAR is 0.57. It is noted that commercial accessory buildings are not limited in 
size like residential accessory structures per the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO). 
 
Landscaping: 
The existing Landscape Surface Ratio (LSR) of the site is approximately 68.5%, while the 
resulting LSR would be 59.9% which still complies with the B-2 General Business District 
minimum LSR of 35% (0.35).  
 
Natural Resource Protection Plan: 
The applicant submitted a Natural Resource Protection Plan (NRPP) prepared by Tina Myers of 
R.A. Smith dated December 13, 2017. This NRPP was used for the current special use permit 
and the wetland delineations are still valid. Tina Myers is a Wisconsin Department of Natural 
Resources Assured Wetland Delineator. The NRPP identifies an approximately 0.04 acre 
wetland with an associated 0.13 acre wetland buffer on the northern portion of the property. 
There are no proposed impacts to these natural resource features associated with this site plan 
amendment application. 
 
Parking: 
The existing parking lot has 13 stalls: 12 regular stalls and 1 accessible stall. According to 
information submitted by the applicant, the floor area devoted to office is approximately 2,536 
sf, the existing storage area is 814 sf and the proposed accessory building is 2,400 sf. Based on 
the parking ratios of the UDO Table 15-5.0203 for office (3.33/1,00 sf) and contractor shop 
(1/1,000 sf), the resulting required parking is 12 parking stalls: 8.3 for office and 3.2 for 
contractor shop and storage. Therefore, this site plan amendment meet the parking requirements 
of the UDO. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
City Development Staff recommends approval of the proposed site plan amendment for an 
accessory storage building for an electrical contractor business upon property located at 11610 
West Rawson Avenue, subject to the conditions of approval in the attached draft resolution.        
 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
             PLAN COMMISSION            [Draft 8-25-21] 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2021-____ 

 
A RESOLUTION AMENDING THE SITE PLAN FOR PROPERTY  

LOCATED AT 11610 WEST RAWSON AVENUE TO ALLOW FOR A  
DETACHED ACCESSORY BUILDING ADDITION TO JEMCO, LLC,  

D/B/A JEMCO ELECTRIC, AN ELECTRICAL CONTRACTING BUSINESS 
(TAX KEY NO. 749-9999-000)  

 (JOHN R. PRUSINSKI, APPLICANT) 
              
 
 WHEREAS, John R. Prusinski having applied for an amendment to the site plan for 
the property located at 11610 West Rawson Avenue, such Site Plan having been previously 
approved as part of a Zoning Permit approval for a greenhouse/sale of bedding plants 
business (Woodcrest Market building) dated May 2, 1990, and thereafter as part of a Special 
Use approval for Jemco, LLC, d/b/a Jemco Electric, an electrical contracting business, by 
Resolution No. 2018-7340, dated January 9, 2018; and  
 
 WHEREAS, such proposed amendment proposes the addition of an approximately 
2,400 square foot detached accessory building to Jemco, LLC, d/b/a Jemco Electric, an 
electrical contracting business (proposed building would face South North Cape Road, be 
used for storage, and include electric service, exterior lighting and a drive to service the 
building), and the Plan Commission having reviewed such proposal and having found same 
to be in compliance with and in furtherance of those express standards and purposes of a Site 
Plan review pursuant to Division 15-7.0100 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin, Wisconsin, that the Site Plan for John R. Prusinski, d/b/a Jemco Electric, dated July 
6, 2021, as submitted by John R. Prusinski, as described above, be and the same is hereby 
approved, subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. John R. Prusinski, successors and assigns and any developer of the John R. Prusinski, 
d/b/a Jemco Electric detached accessory building addition project shall pay to the City 
of Franklin the amount of all development compliance, inspection and review fees 
incurred by the City of Franklin, including fees of consults to the City of Franklin, for 
the John R. Prusinski, d/b/a Jemco Electric detached accessory building addition 
project, within 30 days of invoice for same.  Any violation of this provision shall be a 
violation of the Unified Development Ordinance, and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof 
and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, the general penalties and remedies provisions, as 
amended from time to time. 

2. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon John R. Prusinski and the 



JOHN R. PRUSINSKI - SITE PLAN AMENDMENT  
RESOLUTION NO. 2021-_____ 
Page 2 
 

John R. Prusinski, d/b/a Jemco Electric detached accessory building addition project 
for the property located at 11610 West Rawson Avenue: (i) being in compliance with 
all applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders and ordinances; and 
(ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, permits, licenses and the like, 
required for and applicable to the project to be developed and as presented for this 
approval. 

3. The John R. Prusinski, d/b/a Jemco Electric detached accessory building addition 
project shall be developed in substantial compliance with the plans City dated July 6, 
2021. 

 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin, 
Wisconsin, that the John R. Prusinski, d/b/a Jemco Electric detached accessory building 
addition as depicted upon the plans dated July 6, 2021, attached hereto and incorporated 
herein, shall be developed and constructed within one year from the date of adoption of this 
Resolution, or this Resolution and all rights and approvals granted hereunder shall be null 
and void, without any further action by the City of Franklin; and the Site Plan for the 
property located at 11610 West Rawson Avenue, as previously approved, is amended 
accordingly. 
 
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin this 
_______ day of ____________________, 2021. 
 
 Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2021. 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       Stephen R. Olson, Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________       
Sandra L. Wesolowski, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

11610 W. Rawson Ave.
TKN: 749 9999 000

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

B-2 

R-3 

R-2 

P-1 

I-1 R-7 

R-3 

R-4 
C-1 

RAWSON                         AVE 
FO

RE
ST

 H
OM

E  
    

    
    

    
  A

VE
 

RAWSON                         AVE  

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 190 38095 Feet

Property

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

11610 W. Rawson Ave.
TKN: 749 9999 000

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

W 
  F

OR
ES

T  
HO

ME
    

 AV
E

CT

     
 S

WOODCREST

S  
    

    
11

8T
H 

    
    

    
ST

S  
  N

OR
TH

  C
AP

E  
  R

D

CT
H 

OOS  
 N

OR
TH

 CA
PE

   R
D

RAWSON                         AVE 
FO

RE
ST

 H
OM

E  
    

    
    

    
  A

VE
 

RAWSON                         AVE  

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 190 38095 Feet

Property

 



















0 30 60 90





      C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N       
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

 

Meeting of September 9, 2021 
 

Parkland Acquisition Study Review and Recommendation 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Department of City Development requests the recommendation of the 
Plan Commission on a preferred strategy for Parkland Acquisition.  

Project Name:    Parkland Acquisition Study 

Project Address: Citywide  

Action Requested: Recommendation to Common Council of a preferred 
scenario for use of Park Impact Fees 

Planner: Marion Ecks, Assistant Planner 
 
 
 

PROJECT OVERVIEW 
 
As the City has grown, development has resulted in the accumulation of Park Impact Fees, which are 
intended to provide park amenities to accommodate that growth.  
 
In 2020, the Common Council contracted with Planning consultant firm Vandewalle and Associates 
(hereafter V&A) to assist with the purchase of parkland (May 5, 2020, Item G.15). The consultants 
completed that scope, including assisting with the purchase of parkland on Lovers Lane. On 
November 17, 2020, the Common Council authorized an addendum to that contract (Item G.8). The 
expanded scope included additional stakeholder input from the Park Commission, Plan Commission, 
and Council, to draft a planning document to create priorities for parkland acquisition as based on 
desired park size, park purpose/facilities, and general location. This scope is complete, and now the 
final Parkland Acquisition Study is before you for review and recommendation.  
 
INPUT SESSIONS 
 
V&A have conducted input sessions with Parks Commission, Plan Commission, and Common 
Council, to inform the development of the scenarios for parkland acquisition. Key questions included 
the scale of desired parks and facilities, the general location and service area, and general thoughts on 
the types of amenities and desires for parks. Input sessions were held with Parks Commission on 
March 8, and May 10, 2021; with Plan Commission, July 22, 2021, to elicit your feedback; and with 
the Common Council on August 19, 2021.  Input from these session was incorporated into the final 
draft of the report, and key comments and takeaways are reflected in the appendix. 
 
At the May 10, 2021 meeting of the Parks Commissions, the Commission adopted a motion to “send 
recommendation of the Parkland Acquisition Study to Plan Commission to purchase a parcel in 
southwest corner of the City for future use.” The final study will be shared with the Parks Commission 
for review and recommendation at their September 13, 2021 meeting, and will then be reviewed by 
Common Council on September 21, 2021. 
 
 
 

Items D.2 



 2 

STUDY BACKGROUND 
 
The study has been developed based on the recommendations of the City’s Comprehensive Outdoor 
Recreation Plan or “CORP”.  The recommendations of the CORP are founded upon the anticipated 
needs of current and future population. Total park and recreation space and facilities needs are 
“normally expressed as a ratio of acres of land per capita (Guidelines for the Development of Local 
Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plans (n.d.). WI DNR).” Additional requirements related to 
distance or length per capita apply to trails.  Details of the enabling legislation and requirements of the 
CORP may be found in the section “Legal Basis for the Preparation of a Comprehensive Outdoor 
Recreation Plan…” in the City of Franklin CORP. A copy of the adopted 2030 CORP can be viewed 
at: https://www.franklinwi.gov/Departments/Planning/Comprehensive-Outdoor-Recreation-Plan-
2030.htm  
 
The current City of Franklin CORP was adopted April 4, 2011 and an update was approved by 
Common Council on January 1, 2015. The update extended its recommendations to 2030.  As with all 
planning documents, the CORP is iterative; it builds upon the recommendations of previous policy, in 
this case, the “2002 CORP” adopted in February, 2002. Future versions of the CORP will incorporate 
and update the vision presented in the 2030 CORP.  
 
Since the CORP’s adoption, only one new park has been purchased: a future park on Lovers’ Lane 
which was aquired under the previous scope of this project.  
 
The Parkland Acquisition Study before you today is not intended to supersede the existing CORP, but 
to make recommendations based on the City’s existing policy, to enable the City to thoughtfully 
deploy funds collected under that policy.  It is a decision tool to identify what aspect of the outdoor 
recreation policy the City intends to pursue next. The Study offers a number of scenarios for parkland 
acquisition that may be used to plan for required match funds and focus park development efforts. 
 
ANALYSIS 

 
The final draft of the study is attached for review.  It contains six scenarios for spending of impact fees, 
with information about the estimated cost for such a project, the percentage of that cost that is eligible for 
impact fees, and the required match of general funds. 
 
PLANS FOR 2022 IMPACT FEES 
 
The Parkland Acquisition Study does not include recommendations for 2022 use of impact fees. As 
part of their initial analysis, Vandewalle and Associates identified spending horizons for park impact 
fees: limits to how long the City may hold those fees without spending them. When the fees expire, 
they will need to be rebated.  This includes an immediate need to spend those funds expiring at the end 
of 2022. The report notes that: 
 

“Wis. Stat. 66.55 requires that municipalities spend accumulated impact fees within a 
“reasonable period of time,” or else they must be rebated to the current owner of the property 
with respect to which the impact fees were imposed. In 2015, the City of Franklin adopted an 
ordinance establishing a ten-year timeframe for using impact fees with the authority to extend 
the time limit by an additional three years, if needed because of extenuating circumstances or 
hardship. In 2016, the City adopted Resolution 2016-7177, which utilized the three-year 
extension for fees collected after April 10, 2006, and established a deadline of December 31, 

https://www.franklinwi.gov/Departments/Planning/Comprehensive-Outdoor-Recreation-Plan-2030.htm
https://www.franklinwi.gov/Departments/Planning/Comprehensive-Outdoor-Recreation-Plan-2030.htm


 3 

2022, for the expenditure of these funds. It was determined that an extension was needed 
because the global economic recession created extenuating circumstances that could be 
reasonably expected to create a hardship in meeting the ten-year time limit. There is no 
provision in City ordinance for further extensions, so the new deadline must be met. The State 
subsequently amended the statute to require reversion in eight years (Wis. Stat. §66.0617(9)) 
(Parkland Acquisition Study, 2021).” 

 
The accumulated impact fees for 2022 total approximately $1.2 million. City of Franklin staff have 
undertaken efforts to plan for how best to allocate those funds appropriately within the 2022 budget, 
which has been discussed at Parks Commission and incorporated into the Capital Improvement 
Planning currently underway.  
 
The draft Study therefore looks further into the future, to consider how to accomplish the goals of the 
CORP including possible acquisitions of larger parks, trails, and development of public lands to be 
donated to the City, with an eye towards preventing a similar future surplus that creates an 
administrative and logistical burden. 

 
PROPOSED SCENARIOS FOR THE FUTURE USE OF IMPACT FEES 
 
The Parkland Acquisition Study proposes six scenarios – Scenarios A-F – for the future use of impact 
fees to acquire new parks. The scenarios focus on parkland types that were identified as priorities 
through the input process: trails, community parks of varying sizes, neighborhood parks, and property to 
be dedicated to the City by Waste Management, which is designated in the CORP as “The Metro 
Conservancy Special Park.” 
 
Park types are defined by the CORP; preferred types are noted in bold: 
 
• Regional Public Outdoor Recreation Land: 250+ acres, 10 miles service area 
• Multi-Community Public Outdoor Recreation Land: 100+ acres, Service area based on community 

density – between 4 and 10 miles 
• Community Level Public Outdoor Recreation Land: 25-99 acres, 2 mile service area 
• Community Playfields: 10-20 acres, no defined service area in CORP.  Active recreation 
• Neighborhood Level Public Outdoor Recreation Land: ~5-25 acres, 1 mile service area 
• Neighborhood Playground: ~8+ acres; “neighborhood” service area 
• Mini Level Public Outdoor Recreation Land (Playlots and Totlots): <5 acres; 1/8 mile service area 
• Trails 
• Special Parks – varies: includes all-abilities parks, conservancy lands etc. 
 
The scenarios assume a land value of $40,000 per acre, and vary in terms of required “matches” or 
additional dollars from the City’s General Fund which must be provided in addition to impact fees.  Of 
these scenarios, each has varying costs and benefits. The most conspicuous is the amount of funding 
required; however the City has a stated goal of providing a high quality of life. Parks are an invaluable 
asset to any community. There are a number of factors to weigh, and while the scenarios are not 
presented in any preferential order, staff notes that there is a community demand for new parks that can 
accommodate a variety of different uses and activities, as well as connectivity through trails.  
 
ACTION REQUESTED 

Department of City Development requests the recommendation of the Plan Commission to Common 
Council on a preferred strategy or strategies for Parkland Acquisition. 



PARKLAND ACQUISITION 
STRATEGY 
CITY OF FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN 

September 1, 2021 
  P r e p a r e d  b y :  

 

  



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  i September 1, 2021 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Introduction .................................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Summary of Recommendations from the Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan: 2030 (CORP) ......................... 1 
Goals for Parkland Acquisition .............................................................................................................................................. 1 
Parkland Acquisition Strategy ................................................................................................................................................ 2 
Approximate Land Value: ....................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Park Impact Fee Strategy .................................................................................................................................................... 5 
Projects Eligible for Park Impact Fees and Required Matching Funds ............................................................................... 6 

Figure 1: Costs Eligible for Impact Fees – Previously Planned Project (Impact Fee Study, 2020) ........................ 6 
Time Limits for Utilizing Impact Fees ...................................................................................................................................... 7 
Preliminary Timeline for Expenditure of Funds .................................................................................................................... 7 

Figure 2: Funds Expiring by Year ....................................................................................................................................... 8 
Figure 3: Scenario A ............................................................................................................................................................. 8 
Figure 4: Scenario B .............................................................................................................................................................. 8 
Figure 5: Scenario C ............................................................................................................................................................. 9 
Figure 6: Scenario D ............................................................................................................................................................. 9 
Figure 7: Scenario E .............................................................................................................................................................. 9 
Figure 8: Scenario F ............................................................................................................................................................ 10 
Figure 9: Parks Dept. Budget, 2017-2021 .................................................................................................................... 11 

Appendix A. Franklin School District Recreational Facilities .............................................................................................. 13 
Appendix B: Table of Funding Resources .............................................................................................................................. 14 
Appendix C: City of Franklin Public Facilities Needs Assessment and Impact Fee Study 2020 (excerpt) ................ 17 
Appendix D: City of Franklin Resolution 2016-7177,  Extending Time Limit for Using Impact Fees ......................... 26 
Appendix E. Spending Scenarios That Diverge from the CORP ....................................................................................... 29 

Figure 10: Costs Eligible for Impact Fees – New Projects (Impact Fee Study, 2020) ............................................ 29 
Figure 11: Scenario G ........................................................................................................................................................ 29 
Figure 12: Scenario H ......................................................................................................................................................... 30 
Figure 13: Scenario I .......................................................................................................................................................... 30 
Figure 14: Scenario J .......................................................................................................................................................... 31 

Appendix F: Annotated Bibliography .................................................................................................................................... 32 
Appendix G: City of Franklin Resolution Adopting Parkland Acquisition Strategy Report ......................................... 34 
Appendix H: Parkland Acquisition Strategy Maps .............................................................................................................. 37 

Citywide Existing Park/Service Area .............................................................................................................................. 38 
Citywide Park Service Area & Adopted Land Use Plan ............................................................................................. 39 
Cityside Park Service and Environmental Constraints ................................................................................................... 40 
Southwest Quadrant Environmental Constraints ............................................................................................................ 41 
Southwest Quadrant Environmental Constraints & Existing Land Use ........................................................................ 42 
Southwest Quadrant Environmental Constraints & Adopted Land Use Plan ............................................................ 43 

 

file://vadc/projects/franklin.parkland%20acqstn%2020/Products/Parkland%20Acquisition%20Strategy%20Report/Franklin%20Park%20Strategy%20Report%20-%20Final%20-%209.1.21.docx#_Toc81398474


Parkland Acquisition Strategy  1 September 1, 2021 

INTRODUCTION 
The City of Franklin has identified a need for a short-term and longer-term strategy to utilize its 
accumulated park impact fees. In 2021, the City of Franklin retained Vandewalle and Associates 
to prepare this Parkland Acquisition Strategy Report and foster a conversation about the City’s 
park impact fees. The purpose of this Parkland Acquisition Strategy is to document the factors and 
requirements that influence the spending of park impact fees, provide a schedule for the 
utilization of accumulated park impact fees, and to provide guidance on the utilization of future 
park impact fees to be collected in the future.  

Summary of Recommendations from the Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan: 
2030 (CORP)  

The City of Franklin’s Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan: 2030 was adopted on April 4, 
2011 and last amended in 2014. The Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan (CORP) makes 
recommendations for future park and recreation needs, including generalized recommendations 
for parkland acquisition for the next ten years and beyond. The CORP contains the following 
relevant recommendations for parkland acquisition: 

• Provide a new Regional/Multi-Community Park in the Southwest quadrant of the City in 
combination with the existing Franklin Savanna. Franklin Savanna is an undeveloped oak 
savanna owned by Milwaukee County and is designated as a State Natural Area. 

• Recognizing that most existing neighborhoods are fully built out, there are limited options for 
new Neighborhood Parks in the developed part of the City. Work with the Franklin School 
District to provide active recreation at future school sites. 

• Provide five new Mini Parks of at least one acre each within developed areas of the City that 
cannot be served by a Neighborhood Park because of inadequate and/or insufficient vacant 
land.  

The CORP has been incorporated by reference into the City of Franklin’s Comprehensive Master 
Plan. 

Goals for Parkland Acquisition  

The Parks Commission has identified the following goals for parkland acquisition, based on CORP 
recommendations and known needs for the park system. 

A. Utilize accumulated park impact fees to offset the impact of development and provide 
adequate parkland for the City’s current and future population. 

B. Utilize park impact fees to acquire land for a Neighborhood Park or Community Park of 20 
acres or more. This would fulfill the City’s need for additional parkland in the southwest 
portion of the City, where future residential growth is planned. A park of this size is desirable 
because it could accommodate a wide range of recreation uses and because it is more cost-
effective to maintain than several Mini Parks. 
• The new park should provide a space for special events, as the City currently does not 

have many open areas suitable for large public or private events and festivals. 
• The new park should serve multiple purposes, including a mix of passive and active 

recreation uses. The park should include large open areas that can be repurposed as 
needed, including for special events and for field sports (e.g., soccer, football, lacrosse, 
ultimate, rugby). Additionally, the park should include spaces for court-based sports (e.g., 
basketball, tennis, pickleball, volleyball). In areas not suitable for active recreation 
because of geographic or environmental constraints, passive recreation features (such as 
trails, natural areas, and seating areas) should be provided. 



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  2 September 1, 2021 

• Combine new parkland with existing parks and conservation lands in order to maximize 
the size of the new park. If the combined park area were to be 100 acres or more, the 
park could be classified as a Regional/Multi-Community Park, as defined by the CORP.  

• Combining new parkland with the Waste Management Conservation Easement lands 
reflects another opportunity to maximize the size of a new park. 

• Develop the new park over a period of time as needs evolve and as funds become 
available. 

C. Utilize park impact fees to connect existing and future parks and open space with trails. 
Develop trail connections between parks in as many locations as feasible. 
• Connect the 116th Street Trail to Franklin Savanna along Ryan Creek and onward to the 

Oak Leaf Trail. 
• Explore other potential trail connection options. 

D. Add desired facilities to the park system, including dog amenities, pickleball (8+ courts), and 
an ice skating rink. 

Parkland Acquisition Strategy 

The process for determining how to best utilize park impact fees involves three main steps with 
several sub-steps. It is an iterative process, meaning that it repeats or restarts as needed.  As 
park impact fees are spent or accumulated, it will be important continually to reconfirm 
assumptions and update the strategy. Refer to the graphic on page 6 of this report for a 
summary of this process. Background information on the expiration of park impact fees and 
required matching funds is provided on page 7 of this report. 

Step One: Fund Analysis 

1.) Review Existing Park Impact Fee Collection/Expiration Schedule  
The park impact fee collection and expiration schedule will guide the overall project schedule 
to ensure fees are utilized prior to the mandatory reversion deadlines. Utilization of funds will 
focus on two goals: 1.) identify all funds that are nearing the reversion deadline and develop 
a strategy for near-term use of funds for acquisitions or park improvements; 2.) identify funds 
that can be combined for use in larger-scale and longer-term acquisitions or park 
improvements. Development of a year-by-year summary of collection and expiration of funds 
will help determine overall cash flow and budgets for park acquisition.  

2.) Develop Plan for Utilization for Expiring Funds  
Utilization of funds with a near-term expiration date is key to avoid reversion of funds 
because of the utilization requirement for impact fees. These funds could be used for a large 
land acquisition or small-scale acquisitions within existing park-deficient neighborhoods. Funds 
may also be used in limited cases for projects within newer existing parks.  
 
As plans to utilize impact fee funds are developed, the City should determine the match 
requirement and coordinate with the annual City budgeting process to ensure that matching 
funds are available when needed.  

3.) Reserve Other Park Impact Fees for Longer-Term Investments  
Park impact fees with later expiration dates can be targets for larger-scale acquisitions or 
park improvements through the accumulation of funds over time. The City could consider 
applying for state or federal grants to increase the total amount of funds available for such 
projects.  



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  3 September 1, 2021 

Step Two: Project Concept and Partnerships 

1.) Develop Park Concept/Program  
The creation of a programmatic concept plan for a hypothetical Community Park will guide 
the property characteristics for future acquisitions. This concept will focus on defining 
programmatic goals for the park along with environmental characteristics and acreage needs. 
Key questions and decision points include: Should the park be used primarily for active 
recreation, passive recreation, or a combination of the two? What park facilities are desired 
(ballfields, playgrounds, structures, parking, etc.)? Approximately how many acres are 
needed to accommodate the desired park concept/program? 

2.) Leverage Grant and Partnership Opportunities  
The City should work to identify any complementary partnerships (Franklin School District, club 
sports, community agencies, etc.) along with local, state, and federal grant programs that 
could offer an opportunity to bring additional funds to a given project through matching 
grants or partnerships. While the percentage of the impact fee participation does not change 
based on matching fund source, there are advantages to exploring grant and partnership 
opportunities. Specifically, the City’s funds and impact fees can be used as a match required 
by grant programs, so the City should explore opportunities for local, state, and federal 
grants that could be used to enhance desired park projects. For example, the Knowles-Nelson 
Stewardship grant program could enable the City to acquire acres of natural area that it 
would have had the ability to purchase with City funds and park impact fees alone.  
 
Additionally, the City should maintain an ongoing dialogue with the Franklin School District on 
its plans and timelines for investing in recreational facilities. That way, both parties can 
identify opportunities to reduce redundancies and collaborate where possible. Other 
community agencies, public service organizations, and private clubs and leagues that use or 
provide recreational facilities also have potential for collaboration with the City on future 
facilities. Such collaborations can maximize benefits for all partners. For example, the City of 
Sun Prairie and the Sun Prairie Area School District collaborated to design Creekside 
Elementary School, a six-acre elementary school adjacent to a six-acre city neighborhood 
park containing shared recreational facilities. The two entities worked together in the design 
and implementation of the campus. 

Step Three: Property Acquisition and New Recreational Facility Installation 

1.) Investigate Property Opportunities in Southwest Quadrant  
Utilizing the park concept/program developed in Step Two as a basis for property targets 
within the Southwest quadrant, the City should begin a detailed property search to align 
potential acreage, environmental conditions, and adjoining land uses. Specific tasks include: 
a. Identify parcel ownership patterns, acreages, and proximity opportunities; 
b. Evaluate environmental constraints and planned land use; 
c. Evaluate property assessments and market conditions (approximate price per acre); 
d. Identify potential target parcels that address the park concept/program and project 

goals; 
e. Identify parcels currently listed and potential targets that are not listed for sale; and 
f. Research current land price trends, listings, and comparable sales. 

2.) Begin Property Owner Outreach  
After evaluating a wide range of potential properties, the City should identify a shorter list of 
potential target properties that best meet the City’s goals and concept plan. The City then 
should reach out to property owners to better understand availability and potential price 
requirements for the target properties. The City should consult legal counsel to determine the 
best approach for property owner outreach in accordance with state statues. After gaining a 



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  4 September 1, 2021 

better understanding of land availability and potential price ranges, the City should identify 
the specific property or properties to target for acquisition. 

3.) Acquire Property  
While each property acquisition is different, the general steps for property acquisition involve 
negotiating a price, making a formal offer, and preparing purchase documents with legal 
counsel. The City should consult legal counsel to determine the best approach for each of these 
steps, in accordance with Wis. Stat. 62.22(1) and other applicable laws. When purchasing 
parkland, the City should utilize park impact fees to the maximum extent possible, using 
expiring fees first. 

4.) New Recreational Facility Installation  
If the City has acquired parkland and is developing it, the City should adjust the 
programmatic concept plan developed in Step Two to fit the new property. If the City is 
adding a new recreational facility to an existing park, the City should determine a precise 
location for the new facility. In either situation, this step involves determining specific locations 
for new recreational facilities and  adjusting the concepts in response to the actual conditions, 
limitations, and advantages of the site. 
 
Once this is determined, the City will need to develop detailed construction drawings for the 
new facilities. The next step is to construct the new facility or facilities expending both park 
impact fees and expiring fees first. 

Approximate Land Value: 

Current range (4/15/21): $11,000-$55,000 per acre 

  



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  5 September 1, 2021 

Park Impact Fee Strategy 
  



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  6 September 1, 2021 

PROJECTS ELIGIBLE FOR PARK IMPACT FEES AND REQUIRED MATCHING FUNDS 
When a new home or subdivision is built, those residents will need additional public facilities or 
infrastructure, including parks. Impact fees allow for new residential developments to support their 
own future needs in the City, rather than asking current residents to pay entire cost of those 
facilities. Municipalities have the authority to impose impact fees on developers under Wis. Stat. 
66.55 in order to “to pay for the capital costs that are necessary to accommodate land 
development.” Per Wis. Stat. 66.55(1)(a), capital costs include “costs to construct, expand or 
improve public facilities, including the cost of land, and including legal, engineering and design 
costs,” but not the cost of equipment. In practice, this means that park impact fees can be spent for 
the following purposes: 

• Acquisition of land for parks to accommodate new population growth and costs associated 
costs with land acquisition (acquisition studies, real estate transaction costs, etc.); 

• Park master planning and park design services; and 
• Park improvements, meaning the addition of new facilities within any park to accommodate 

new population growth. Improvements could include items such as tennis courts, dog amenities, 
splashpads, restrooms, fitness stations, etc. Park improvements include the expansion of park 
features but do not include maintenance or replacement of existing park features. 

As described above, park impact fees can be used only for park projects that accommodate new 
population growth associated with residential development. For this reason, most park projects 
are not eligible to be 100 percent funded by park impact fees. Therefore, expenditure of park 
impact fees almost always will require additional “matching funds” from the General Fund or 
other City financial resources to fund the full project cost.  

The City of Franklin Public Facilities Needs Assessment and Impact Fee Study (March 2020) 
describes the percentage of any given park project that is eligible to be funded through park 
impact fees. The percentage varies by park classification (Community Park, Neighborhood Park, 
etc.). The following table, excerpted from the Impact Fee Study, provides the maximum 
percentage and total dollar amount that may be funded by park impact fees for previously 
planned projects. “Previously planned projects” refers to park projects that generally were 
conceived in the City’s Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan at the time the Impact Fee Study 
was completed. As shown in the following table, only 36 percent of total project costs for 
Community Parks and Special Parks can be covered by park impact fees, whereas impact fees 
can make up a relatively higher percentage of costs for Neighborhood Parks (47 percent), Mini 
Parks (43 percent), and Trails (62 percent).  

Figure 1: Costs Eligible for Impact Fees – Previously Planned Project (Impact Fee Study, 2020) 

 



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  7 September 1, 2021 

The amount and percentage of total project costs eligible for park impact fees varies 
significantly, and so this becomes a primary driver in the City’s near-term parkland acquisition 
strategy. The City wishes to spend more than park impact fees in a relatively short amount of 
time, as some park impact fees will expire in early 2024. Therefore, the best approach is to 
target park projects with a relatively high rate of impact fee eligibility (and therefore lower 
match requirement). Otherwise, the City will be in the challenging position of coming up with a 
large amount of matching funds in order to use the expiring park impact fees.  

Time Limits for Utilizing Impact Fees  

Wis. Stat. 66.55 requires that municipalities spend accumulated impact fees within a “reasonable 
period of time,” or else they must be rebated to the current owner of the property with respect to 
which the impact fees were imposed. In 2015, the City of Franklin adopted an ordinance 
establishing a ten-year timeframe for using impact fees with the authority to extend the time limit 
by an additional three years, if needed because of extenuating circumstances or hardship. In 
2016, the City adopted Resolution 2016-7177, which utilized the three-year extension for fees 
collected after April 10, 2006, and established a deadline of December 31, 2022, for the 
expenditure of these funds. It was determined that an extension was needed because the global 
economic recession created extenuating circumstances that could be reasonably expected to 
create a hardship in meeting the ten-year time limit. There is no provision in City ordinance for 
further extensions, so the new deadline must be met. The State subsequently amended the statute 
to require reversion in eight years (Wis. Stat. §66.0617(9)). 

Preliminary Timeline for Expenditure of Funds  

Scenarios for spending down the accumulated park impact fee fund balance have been provided 
on the following pages. The scenarios are provided for preliminary discussion purposes and 
achieve different levels of success in meeting the City’s goals. The scenarios were developed 
based on the City’s park classifications (Community Park, Neighborhood Park, etc.), and reflect a 
range of possible outcomes for utilization of park impact fees. The scenarios are not driven by the 
amount of City match required, nor are they ranked or evaluated based on City budgetary 
impact. As the City discusses the various scenarios, it will become evident that some are more 
practical than others, and several may be eliminated because of the significant amount of City 
match required. At this stage, however, this report does not endorse any one scenario over 
another. 

Each scenario avoids rebating funds by utilizing accrued funds ahead of the monthly and yearly 
rebating deadline. The estimated amount of park impact fees remaining under each scenario are 
also provided. This figure reflects the $2.35M in accumulated park impact fees available as of 
August 2021. Negative numbers indicate a need to utilize future park impact fees not yet 
collected. All scenarios assume a land value of $40,000 per acre. This figure is a conservative 
estimate based on land values in spring of 2021. 

The six scenarios provided on the following pages implement the CORP by acquiring/improving 
land for a Community Park on the Southwest side and/or by acquiring/improving land for trails. 
Four scenarios that diverge from the CORP are provided in the Appendix of this report. These 
scenarios include a new Neighborhood Park rather than a larger Community Park. Implementing a 
scenario that diverges from the CORP would require an amendment to the CORP as well as an 
update of the Impact Fee Study. Such updates would likely result in a change to the percentage 
of the project that is eligible for impact fees and resulting match requirement. 

Figure 2 shows the amount of funds that will expire on or before December 31 each year. When 
park impact fees are spent, the “funds expiring by year” figures in Figure 2 will need to be 
updated to reflect funds spent. The City has been successful spending older funds at risk of 
expiring first and tracking accordingly, and this practice should continue. The City is in the process 



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  8 September 1, 2021 

of developing a spending plan to utilize funds expiring in 2022. No impact fees are listed as 
available for use in 2023, as they are accounted for in current planning. Therefore, the next park 
impact fees are set to expire in early 2024. Since funds expire in the month collected, a spending 
schedule broken down by month should be developed once a desired scenario is selected. 

Figure 2: Funds Expiring by Year 

 

 

Figure 3: Scenario A 

 
• Utilize all funds on land acquisition and improvement of trails – option to scale back as 

needed 
• Covers all impact fees expiring through 2028 

Figure 4: Scenario B 

 
• Previously planned Community Park, Southwest quadrant  
• Covers all impact fees expiring through -2028 
• Large match requirement ($4.2M) 

Cumulative
Year 

Collected
Term

2023 $0 $0 n/a* 8 years
2024 $209,983 $209,983 2016 8 years
2025 $66,591 $276,574 2017 8 years
2026 $869,037 $1,145,611 2018 8 years
2027 $948,902 $2,094,513 2019 8 years
2028 $259,254 $2,353,767 2020 8 years
Total $2,353,767

Funds Expiring 
By Year

               

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 62% 38%

Trails
Land Acquisition & 
Trail Improvement 3,796,000$  2,353,520$      1,442,480$  
Total 3,796,000$ 2,353,520$      1,442,480$ 

Park Impact Fees Remaining: $247

Scenario A - Trails Only

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 36% 64%
Land Acquisition 1,200,000$  432,000$        768,000$    
Park Improvements 5,400,000$  1,944,000$      3,456,000$  
Total 6,600,000$ 2,376,000$      4,224,000$ 

Park Impact Fees Remaining: -$22,233

Scenario B - Implement CORP with 30-Acre Community Park

Community Park 
(30 acres)

*No impact fees are listed as available for use in 2023. This is due to the change in 
term under Wis. Stat. §66.0617(9), in combination with the fact that funds expire in 
the month collected. Funds are accounted for in current planning. 



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  9 September 1, 2021 

Figure 5: Scenario C 

 
• Previously planned Community Park, Southwest quadrant – acquisition and improvements  
• Covers all impact fees expiring through 2028 and relies on significant future park impact fees 
• Large match requirement ($5.5M) 

 

Figure 6: Scenario D 

 
• Utilize funds to improve Waste Management lands to be donated to the City  
• Covers impact fees through 2026 future projects needed to utilize remaining park impact fee 

balance 
• Large match requirement ($3.4M) 

 

Figure 7: Scenario E 

 
• Previously planned Community Park, Southwest quadrant – acquisition only 
• Previously planned Trails – acquisition and/or improvement  
• Covers all impact fees expiring through 2028 and relies on future park impact fees 

 

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 36% 64%
Land Acquisition 3,200,000$  1,152,000$      2,048,000$  
Park Improvements 5,400,000$  1,944,000$      3,456,000$  
Total 8,600,000$ 3,096,000$      5,504,000$ 

Park Impact Fees Remaining: -$742,233

Scenario C - Implement CORP with 80-Acre Community Park

Community Park 
(80 acres)

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 36% 64%

Community Park, Waste 
Management Property 

(168.1 acres) Park Improvements 5,400,000$  1,944,000$      3,456,000$  
Total 5,400,000$ 1,944,000$      3,456,000$ 

Park Impact Fees Remaining: $409,767

Scenario D - Implement CORP by Improving Waste Management Property as Community Park

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 36% 64%
2,400,000$  864,000$        1,536,000$  
100% 62% 38%

3,000,000$  1,860,000$      1,140,000$  
Total 5,400,000$ 2,724,000$      2,676,000$ 

Park Impact Fees Remaining: -$370,233

Scenario E - Implement CORP with 60-Acre Community Park and Trails

Community Park 
(60 acres) Land Acquisition

Trails
Land Acquisition & 
Trail Improvement



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  10 September 1, 2021 

Figure 8: Scenario F 

 
• Previously planned Community Park, Southwest quadrant – acquisition only (land bank for 

future improvement) 
• Add new facilities to existing Neighborhood Parks (new growth) 
• Covers all impact fees expiring through 2028 and relies on significant future park impact fees 

The “Do Nothing” Scenario 

If the City does not spend the funds that are set to expire at the end of 2022, it will have to 
rebate the funds with interest. This option creates many technical, legal, and logistical challenges 
of its own. For example, the City would have to determine how much needs to be rebated, what 
interest has accrued, and what person or entity to send the funds to. State law has clarified that 
the funds cannot be rebated to the current owner of the dwelling unit that was charged the 
impact fee, rather it must be provided to the entity that originally paid the impact fee. In some 
cases, those firms may no longer exist or may have reorganized. The effort associated with 
properly rebating the funds would be very costly and time-consuming. 

In order to avoid a rebating situation in the future, the City should continually revisit and update 
the Parkland Acquisition Strategy and park impact fee spending plan. This process should occur 
on an annual basis or whenever park impact fees are utilized or accumulated in order to ensure 
that the City always has a proactive plan for spending park impact fees well in advance of their 
expiration date. This process also should occur in conjunction with the annual City budgeting 
process to ensure that matching funds are available when needed. 

  

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 36% 64%
2,400,000$  864,000$        1,536,000$  

100% 80% 20%

3,350,000$  2,680,000$      670,000$    
Total 5,750,000$ 3,544,000$      2,206,000$ 

Park Impact Fees Remaining: -$1,190,233

Community Park 
(60 acres) Land Acquisition

Neighborhood Park, 
Existing or Previously 

Planned 

Park Improvements 
(Pickleball, Ice Rink, etc.)

Scenario F - Implement CORP with 60-Acre Community Park & Improve a Neighborhood Park



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  11 September 1, 2021 

Staffing and Maintenance Needs 

There are many different ways to determine staffing 
and maintenance needs for additions to the City’s 
parks system. As the specifics of the future park(s) to 
be acquired are yet to be determined, it is difficult to 
provide a precise estimate. One approach is to 
consider the Parks Department’s current budget as 
compared to the number of park acres currently 
maintained by the Parks Department and extrapolate 
the proportional budget impact that would be created 
by a new park. As shown in Figure 9, based on a five-
year average of Parks Department budgets (2017-
2021) that support roughly 251 acres of parkland, 
the budgetary impact of a new park would be $687 
per acre per year. Accordingly, a new 25-acre park 
would have an annual budget impact of $17,175, 
which includes personnel, equipment, contractual 
services, and other services. This assumes that in the 
future the Parks Department will provide a level of 
service and maintenance comparable to that of the past five years.  

If the future park were to have higher than average maintenance needs, perhaps because of 
specialized facilities or an especially high level of use, this figure could be higher. This exercise is 
intended to provide an “order of magnitude” impact on the future Parks Department budget, 
considering the many factors that are still unknown or yet to be determined. 

Recommendations for the Future Consideration  

• Update the Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan, particularly to reflect current needs for 
new parks and recreational facilities within the City and to maintain eligibility for state and 
federal recreational grants. When updating the CORP, consider the percentage that each 
park project is eligible to be funded through park impact fees.  

• Consider updating City’s Impact Fee Ordinance of the Municipal Code to include a policy that 
places preference on the dedication of land (rather than payment of park impact fees) to 
acquire parkland as development occurs. 

• Update the City’s Official Map (Chapter 58 of Franklin Municipal Code) to reserve land for 
future parks and recreation trails recommended in the Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation 
Plan, as provided for in Wis. Stat. 66.23(6). 

• Considering that trail development is a priority, the City should require developers to 
dedicate trails on an outlot as development occurs or as land is platted. A comprehensive map 
of desired trails such as an Official Map will be important to achieve this. To ensure 
implementation, the City will need communicate this policy to all department heads involved in 
the development review process.  

• In order to encourage the use of outside funds for parkland acquisition and improvements, 
consider revising City policies to allow outside funding sources such as grants to be used as the 
City matching funds when park impact fees are used.  

 

  

Dept 0551 - 
Parks Budget

Park Acres 
Maintained

2017 $167,684 250.3
2018 $151,914 251.5
2019 $160,702 251.5
2020 $186,448 251.5
2021 $196,343 251.5

Average $172,618 251.3

Annual Budget per Acre $687

$17,175

Annual Budget Impact 
of a 25-acre Park:

Figure 9: Parks Dept. Budget, 2017-2021 
 



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  12 September 1, 2021 

Appendix:  

A. Franklin School District Recreational Facilities   
B. Table of Funding Resources 
C. City of Franklin Public Facilities Needs Assessment and Impact Fee Study (excerpt) 
D. City of Franklin Resolution 2016-7177, Extending Time Limit for Using Impact Fees 
E. Spending Scenarios that Diverge from the CORP 
F. Annotated Bibliography  
G. City of Franklin Resolution Adopting Parkland Acquisition Strategy Report 
H. Parkland Acquisition Strategy Maps 

• Citywide Existing Park/Service Area 
• Citywide Park Service Area & Adopted Land Use Plan 
• Cityside Park Service and Environmental Constraints 
• Southwest Quadrant Environmental Constraints 
• Southwest Quadrant Environmental Constraints & Existing Land Use  
• Southwest Quadrant Environmental Constraints & Adopted Land Use Plan 

 

  



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  13 September 1, 2021 

APPENDIX A. FRANKLIN SCHOOL DISTRICT RECREATIONAL FACILITIES  
 

Existing Facilities: 

Franklin School District Facilities are available to the community with some restrictions. They are 
not available during school hours. The following spaces are available: 

• Saber Center for the Performing Arts  
• Franklin High School Stadium  
• All Elementary Schools: multi-purpose rooms, gyms, outdoor green spaces (soccer fields, 

baseball diamonds), libraries, and classrooms after 4 p.m.  
• Forest Park Middle School: gym, main commons, and certain classrooms after 4 p.m.  
• Franklin High School: multi-purpose room, library, gym, cafeteria, and classrooms after 4 p.m.   

Franklin School District generally relies on public facilities for recreational programming.  

Planned Facilities: Within the next few years, Franklin School District intends to develop more 
multiuse athletic fields west of Forest Park Middle School in order to meet the District’s growing 
need for open play spaces for soccer, etc.  

The District also is aware of the potential need to find or add tennis courts to support the District’s 
tennis program, should current arrangements that provide the District access to tennis courts be 
changed. 

  



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  14 September 1, 2021 

APPENDIX B: TABLE OF FUNDING RESOURCES 

Program Purpose Funding Details 

Deadline 
(Check Agency 

Guidelines) Notes 
Admin. 
Agency Contact 

Wisconsin Stewardship Programs 

Aids for the 
acquisition and 
development of 
local parks (ADLP) 

To acquire or develop 
public nature-based 
outdoor recreation 
areas and facilities. 

 50% local match per 
project.  

 

May 1  A comprehensive 
outdoor recreation plan 
is required. 

 Projects must comply 
with ADA. 

Wisconsin 
DNR 

Sara deBruijn   
Southeast Region 
(414) 897-5704 

Urban 
Greenspace 
Program (UGS) 

To acquire land to 
provide natural space 
within or near urban 
areas or to protect 
scenic or ecological 
features. 

 50% local match per 
project.  

 

May 1  A comprehensive 
outdoor recreation plan 
is required. 

 Projects must comply 
with ADA. 

Wisconsin 
DNR 

Sara deBruijn   
Southeast Region 
(414) 897-5704 

Acquisition of 
Development 
Rights 

To acquire development 
rights for nature-based 
outdoor recreation 
areas and facilities. 

 50% local match per 
project.  

 

May 1  Funds are available to 
acquire development 
rights (easements) in 
areas where restrictions 
on residential, industrial, 
or commercial 
development are in 
place. 

 May include 
enhancements of nature-
based outdoor 
recreation. 

Wisconsin 
DNR 

Sara deBruijn   
Southeast Region 
(414) 897-5704 

Urban Rivers 
Grant Program 
(URGP) 

To acquire lands or 
rights in lands adjacent 
to urban rivers for the 
purpose of preserving 
or restoring them for 
economic revitalization 
or nature-based 
outdoor recreation 
activities. 

 50% local match per 
project.  

 

May 1  A comprehensive 
outdoor recreation plan 
is required to 
participate. 

 Projects must comply 
with ADA. 

Wisconsin 
DNR 

Sara deBruijn   
Southeast Region 
(414) 897-5704 

Federal Programs 
Land and Water 
Conversation Fund 
(LWCF) 

To acquire or develop 
public outdoor 
recreation areas and 
facilities. 

 50% local match per 
project. 
 Land acquisition. 
 

May 1  A comprehensive 
outdoor recreation plan 
is required to 
participate. 

 Development of 
recreational facilities. 

Wisconsin 
DNR  

Sara deBruijn   
Southeast Region 
(414) 897-5704 

Recreational Trails 
Program (RTP) 

To provide funds for 
maintenance, 
development, 
rehabilitation, and 
acquisition of land for 
motorized, non-
motorized, and 
diversified trails. 

 50% local match per 
project. 
 Maintenance and 

restoration of existing 
trails. 
 Development and 

rehabilitation of trailside 
and trailhead facilities 
and trail linkages. 
 Construction of new trails 

(with certain restrictions 
on federal lands). 
 Acquisition of easement 

or property for trails 
purchase. 
 Awards may not exceed 

$45,000 

May 1  Funds may only be used 
on trails which have 
been identified in or 
which further a specific 
goal of a local, county 
or state trail plan. 

 Eligible trails include 
water trails identified 
by WDNR. 

 Funds may be used on 
trails that are 
referenced in a 
statewide 
comprehensive outdoor 
recreation plan. 

Wisconsin 
DNR  

Sara deBruijn   
Southeast Region 
(414) 897-5704 



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  15 September 1, 2021 

Program Purpose Funding Details 

Deadline 
(Check Agency 

Guidelines) Notes 
Admin. 
Agency Contact 

Statewide Multi-Modal Improvement Program  
Transportation 
Alternatives 
Program (TAP) 
 

Bicycle and pedestrian 
facilities (on and off 
street); Safe Routes to 
School; safe routes for 
non-drivers; rails to 
trails conversion; 
construction of turnouts, 
overlooks, and viewing 
areas; historic 
preservation/rehab of 
historic transportation 
facilities. 

 20% local match per 
project. 

 Federal minimum of 
$300,000 including 
design. 

 January 
typically 

 Every other 
year  

 

 Federal funds 
administered through 
WisDOT.  

 Incorporates three 
WisDOT multimodal 
transportation 
improvement programs: 
Safe Routes to School 
(SRTS), Transportation 
Enhancements (TE), and 
the Bicycle & Pedestrian 
facilities program 
(BPFP).  
 

WisDOT 
Regional 
Office 

Southeast Region: 
Jacob Varnes 
(262) 548-8789 

Surface 
Transportation 
Program (STP) 

Road improvement 
funds, which can be 
spent on a wide variety 
of projects, including 
roadway projects, 
bridges, transit facilities, 
and bicycle and 
pedestrian facilities. 

 Funded through FAST Act.  
 80%/20%. 
 20% required match 

(funds are not awarded 
upfront but are 
reimbursed). 

 July  
 6-year 

project cycle 

 Facilities for pedestrians 
and bicycles. 

 System-wide bicycle 
planning. 

 Three sub-programs: 
Urban, Rural, Bridges. 

WisDOT  Southeast Region: 
Jacob Varnes 
(262) 548-8789 

Federal Transit Administration Grants 
Capital Investment 
Grants 

Transit capital projects; 
includes intermodal 
facilities such as bicycle 
racks on buses and 
bicycle parking at 
transit stations; most 
funds are to be directed 
toward transit itself. 

 Discretionary local match. Early spring  Funding for this 
program is allocated on 
a discretionary basis 
and requires a multi-
year process. 

WisDOT  Aileen Switzer 
(608)266-5791 

Congestion 
Mitigation and Air 
Quality (CMAQ) 
Improvement 
Program 

Funds projects that will 
reduce vehicle trips and 
miles, reduce emissions 
because of traffic 
congestion, or reduce 
the per mile rate of 
vehicle emissions. 

 20% local match per 
project (funds are not 
awarded upfront but are 
reimbursed). 

April - June  Limited to Milwaukee, 
Kenosha, Racine, 
Ozaukee, Waukesha, 
Washington, 
Sheboygan, Kewaunee, 
Manitowoc, Walworth, 
and Door Counties. 

Federal 
Transit 
Authority 
 
WisDOT 
 
SEWRPC 

Southeast Region: 
Jacob Varnes 
(262) 548-8789 

Federal Highway Administration Safety Funds 
Highway Safety 
Improvement 
Program (HSIP) 

Funds safety projects at 
sites that have 
experienced a high 
crash history. Emphasis is 
on low-cost options that 
can be implemented 
quickly, including 
intersection 
improvements. 

 10% local match per 
project. 

August  Communities must 
include 5 years of crash 
data. 

WisDOT  Southeast Region: 
Jacob Varnes 
(262) 548-8789 

US Department of Transportation 

Rebuilding 
American 
Infrastructure with 
Sustainability and 
Equity (RAISE) 

Investment in road, rail, 
transit, and port projects. 
Funding for multi-modal, 
multi-jurisdictional projects. 

 20% local match per 
project. 

Spring/ 
Summer 

 Eligible for transit 
agencies, port 
authorities, MPOs, and 
state and local 
governments.  

US DOT (202) 366-0301 



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  16 September 1, 2021 

Program Purpose Funding Details 

Deadline 
(Check Agency 

Guidelines) Notes 
Admin. 
Agency Contact 

Other Sources 
Wisconsin Main 
Street and 
Connect 
Communities 
Program 

Comprehensive downtown 
revitalization program, 
which includes streetscape 
improvements. 

 $250,000 available 
annually.  

No specific 
date 

 General downtown 
program. 
 May benefit trail 

enhancements through 
streetscaping. 

Wisconsin 
Economic 
Dev. 
Corporation 
(WEDC) 

WEDC Regional 
Office 
(608) 210-6787 

Urban Forestry 
Grants - Regular 

Assistance for tree 
maintenance, planting, and 
public awareness. 

 $1,000 to $25,000 
grants awarded with a 
50% local match. 

 Match may include in-
kind services and 
donations. 

October 1  Projects begin January 
1 of the following year 
and must be completed 
within one calendar 
year. 

Wisconsin 
DNR  
Urban 
Forestry 

Nicolle Spafford 
(715) 453-2188 
ext 174 

Urban Forestry 
Grants – Startup 

Assistance for small 
projects focused on initial 
steps in community tree 
care and management. 

 $4,000 to $50,000.  
 Applicant may request 

50% advance 
payment. 

Within 60 
days of a state 

emergency 
declaration 

 Projects must be 
completed within 365 
days after governor’s 
emergency declaration. 

Wisconsin 
DNR  
Urban 
Forestry 

Nicolle Spafford 
(715) 453-2188 
ext 174 

Urban Forestry 
Grants – 
Catastrophic 
Storm 

Assistance with tree repair, 
removal, or replacement 
within urban areas 
following a catastrophic 
storm event. 

 $1,000 to $25,000 
grants awarded with a 
50% local match. 

 Match may include in-
kind services and 
donations. 

October 1  Projects begin January 
1 of the following year 
and must be completed 
within one calendar 
year. 

Wisconsin 
DNR  
Urban 
Forestry 

Nicolle Spafford 
(715) 453-2188 
ext 174 

Bicycle 
Infrastructure & 
Advocacy Grant 

Grants to build 
infrastructure that makes it 
easier for all people to 
ride bikes in their 
communities, including bike 
paths, bike lanes, trails, 
bridges, parking, and 
storage. Can also fund 
programs and initiatives 
that advocate for bikes 
and transform streets for 
bikes. 

 Up to $10,000 or up 
to 50% of project cost. 
 No specific match 

amount, but leverage 
required. 

April and 
October 

Applications should 
include performance 
metrics for measuring 
project success.  

People for 
Bikes 

Zoe Kircos 
(702) 726-3335 

Aquatic Restoration Programs 

Surface Water 
Grant Program 

Supports education and 
planning projects and 
management projects to 
help communities 
understand surface water 
conditions and protect and 
improve water quality and 
aquatic habitat. 

 Funding caps and 
match requirements 
vary by project type. 
 Over $6 million 

provided annually. 

November 1  Some projects require 
an approved 
recommendation in a 
management plan to be 
eligible. 

Wisconsin 
DNR 

Alison Miklyuk 
(608) 264-8947 

 

  



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  17 September 1, 2021 

APPENDIX C: CITY OF FRANKLIN PUBLIC FACILITIES NEEDS ASSESSMENT AND 
IMPACT FEE STUDY 2020 (EXCERPT) 

  



 
© 2020 Copyright Ruekert & Mielke, Inc.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Public Facilities Needs Assessment and Impact Fee Study 

March 2020 

Public Facilities 
Needs Assessment 
and Impact Fee 
Study 

 

PREPARED FOR: 

City of Franklin 

9229 W. Loomis Rd 
Franklin, WI 53132 

PREPARED BY: 

Ruekert & Mielke, Inc. 

4001 Nakoosa Trail, Suite 200 
Madison, WI 53714 

 



City of Franklin 

Public Facilities Needs Assessment and Impact Fee Study 

 

5 

March 2020  
 ~Franklin City 5892072 Impact Fee Services > 101 2018 Update > Deliverables > Franklin Impact Fee Study Mar 4 2020.docxMarch 6 2020.docx~ 

 

PARKS FACILITIES 

Franklin plans to continue to impose impact fees to fund parks facility improvements. Parks 
impact fees were last updated by R/M in 2015.  

Table 5 inventories existing parks facilities. 

  

Table 6 shows spending by year for parks projects through 2030. These cost estimates were 
provided by City staff for the last impact fee update and were adjusted by R/M to reflect annual 
inflation. The timing for several projects has been adjusted to reflect the 2020 budget and more 
recent planning.  

 

Regional and Multi-Community Parks  Area (Acres) Mini Parks  Area (Acres) 
Root River Parkway 2,166                         Lions Baseball  Field 9                                   
Whitnall  Park 388                            Cascade Creek 9                                   
Oakwood Park and Golf Course 278                            Friendship 2                                   
Milwaukee County Sports Complex 132                            Glen Meadows 1                                   
Crystal Ridge 92                              Dr. Lynette Fox Memorial 0.4                                
Franklin Park 165                            Ken Windl 7                                   
Grobschmidt Park 143                            Subtotal 28                                 
Subtotal 3,364                         

Special Parks  Area (Acres) 
Community Parks  Area (Acres) Franklin Woods Nature Center 40                                 
Lion's Legend Park 38                              Franklin Little League Complex 26                                 
Froemming Park 16                              Meadowlands Park 15                                 
Franklin High School 77                              Ernie Lake 14                                 
Forest Park Middle School and District Office 40                              Mission Hil ls Neighborhood Wetlands 14                                 
Subtotal 171                            Market Square 1                                   

Victory Creek 85                                 
Subtotal 194                               

Neighborhood Parks  Area (Acres) 
St. Martins Robinwood 19                              Grand Total (Acres) 3,881                           
Pleasant View 24                              
Jack E. Workman 12                              
Southwood Glen 9                                 Site Name  Length (Linear Feet) 
Christine Rathke Memorial 7                                 Connecting Trail  System (City Controlled) 50,504                         
Pleasant View Elementary School 14                              
Ben Franklin Elementary School 12                              
Country Dale Elementary School 10                              
Southwood Glen Elementary School 9                                 
Robinwood Elementary School 8                                 
Subtotal 124                            

 Table 5 - Parks Inventory 



City of Franklin 

Public Facilities Needs Assessment and Impact Fee Study 

 

6 

March 2020  
 ~Franklin City 5892072 Impact Fee Services > 101 2018 Update > Deliverables > Franklin Impact Fee Study Mar 4 2020.docxMarch 6 2020.docx~ 

 

 

Im
pro

vem
ent

  / 
Lan

d A
cqu

isit
ion

Par
k T

ype
20

20
20

21
20

22
20

23
20

24
20

25
20

26
20

27
20

28
20

29
20

30
Tot

al

Sou
thw

est
 Pa

rk-
De

vel
op

me
nt

Co
mm

un
ity

 
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

   
2,8

48
,80

7
  

2,8
48

,80
7

  
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
5,6

97
,61

3
    

Pla
nn

ed 
Tra

ils,
 Bic

ycl
e R

ou
tes

 & 
Lin

kag
es-

De
vel

op
me

nt
Co

nn
ect

ing
 Tr

ail 
Fac

ilit
ies

35
0,0

00
     

50
7,3

56
     

50
7,3

56
     

50
7,3

56
     

50
7,3

56
     

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

2,3
79

,42
5

    

Ple
asa

nt 
Vie

w N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d P

ark
-De

vel
op

me
nt

Ne
igh

bo
rho

od
15

0,0
00

     
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

   
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
15

0,0
00

     
   

Ch
rist

ine
 Ra

thk
e (F

orm
erl

y Q
uar

ry 
Vie

w P
ark

)-D
eve

lop
me

nt
Ne

igh
bo

rho
od

2,0
27

     
     

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
   

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

2,0
27

     
     

  

For
est

 Hi
ll N

eig
hb

orh
oo

d P
ark

--D
eve

lop
me

nt
Ne

igh
bo

rho
od

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

1,7
57

,77
0

  
-

     
     

   
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
1,7

57
,77

0
    

Hil
lcre

st N
eig

hb
orh

oo
d P

ark
-De

vel
op

me
nt

Ne
igh

bo
rho

od
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
2,1

47
,75

7
  

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
   

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

2,1
47

,75
7

    

Mi
ni-

Par
k #

1
Mi

ni
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

   
-

     
     

    
34

7,6
03

     
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
34

7,6
03

     
   

Mi
ni-

Par
k #

2
Mi

ni
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

   
-

     
     

    
34

7,6
03

     
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
34

7,6
03

     
   

Mi
ni-

Par
k #

3
Mi

ni
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

   
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
34

7,6
03

  
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
34

7,6
03

     
   

Mi
ni-

Par
k #

4
Mi

ni
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

   
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

 
34

7,6
03

  
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
34

7,6
03

     
   

Mi
ni-

Par
k #

5
Mi

ni
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

   
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
34

7,6
03

  
-

     
     

 
34

7,6
03

     
   

Me
ado

wla
nd

s P
ark

-De
vel

op
me

nt
Spe

cia
l

42
,15

6
     

  
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

   
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

    
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
-

     
     

 
42

,15
6

     
     

Fra
nkl

in W
oo

ds 
Na

tur
e C

ent
er-

-De
vel

op
me

nt
Spe

cia
l

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

75
6,2

82
     

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

75
6,2

82
     

   

Mi
ssi

on
 Hi

lls 
Ne

igh
bo

rho
od

 W
etl

and
s-D

eve
lop

me
nt

Spe
cia

l
47

,29
9

     
  

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
   

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

47
,29

9
     

     

Ma
hr 

Wo
od

s S
pec

ial 
Par

k-D
eve

lop
me

nt
Spe

cia
l

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
   

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

20
7,9

31
  

20
7,9

31
     

   

Par
k Im

pro
vem

ent
s - 

De
vel

op
me

nt
Co

mm
un

ity
 

25
0,0

00
     

27
8,3

58
     

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
   

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
    

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

-
     

     
 

52
8,3

58
     

   

All
-In

clu
siv

e P
ark

 - D
eve

lop
me

nt
All

-In
clu

siv
e

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

Tot
al

$8
41

,48
2

$7
85

,71
4

$2
,65

5,1
14

$2
,26

5,1
27

$1
,26

3,6
39

$2
,84

8,8
07

$3
,54

4,0
13

$3
47

,60
3

$3
47

,60
3

$3
47

,60
3

$2
07

,93
1

$1
5,4

54
,63

6

No
tes

:
Pro

jec
ts a

nd
 as

soc
iat

ed 
cos

ts p
rov

ide
d b

y C
ity

 of
 Fr

ank
lin 

Sta
ff

Co
sts

 ad
jus

ted
 fo

r a
nn

ual
 inf

lat
ion

 fro
m 

20
15

 to
 20

20
 us

ing
 EN

R's
 Co

nst
ruc

tio
n C

ost
 Ind

ex

Par
ks 

and
 Re

cre
ati

on
 Fa

cili
tie

s N
eed

s A
sse

ssm
ent

Cap
ita

l Im
pro

vem
ent

 Pla
n 

Tab
le 6

 - P
rev

iou
sly

 Pla
nn

ed 
Par

ks 
Pro

jec
ts D

eta
il



City of Franklin 

Public Facilities Needs Assessment and Impact Fee Study 

 

7 

March 2020  
 ~Franklin City 5892072 Impact Fee Services > 101 2018 Update > Deliverables > Franklin Impact Fee Study Mar 4 2020.docxMarch 6 2020.docx~ 

The project Park Improvements refers to upgrades needed to existing facilities in any park to 

accommodate new growth. These improvements include such items as lighted or unlighted 

tennis courts, dog parks, splashpads, restrooms, and fitness stations. They expand park 

features and are not maintenance or replacement of existing park features.  

Table 7 summarizes the total costs and shows acres for each project except for trails, which are 
measured in linear feet.  

 

Project Cost Acres

Community Parks
Southwest Park-Development 5,697,613$       200             
Park Improvements - Development 528,358            -              
Subtotal 6,225,971         200             

Neighborhood Parks
Forest Hill Neighborhood Park--Development 1,757,770         40                
Pleasant View Neighborhood Park-Development 150,000            14                
Christine Rathke (Formerly Quarry View Park)-Development 2,027                 9                  
Hillcrest Neighborhood Park-Development 2,147,757         20                
Subtotal 4,057,555         83                

Mini Parks
Mini-Park #1 347,603            3                  
Mini-Park #2 347,603            3                  
Mini-Park #3 347,603            3                  
Mini-Park #4 347,603            3                  
Mini-Park #5 347,603            3                  
Subtotal 1,738,016         15                

Special Parks
Meadowlands Park-Development 42,156               15                
Mission Hills Neighborhood Wetlands-Development 47,299               15                
Franklin Woods Nature Center--Development 756,282            40                
Mahr Woods Special Park-Development 207,931            30                
Subtotal 1,053,669         100             

Trails Cost Linear Feet
Planned Trails, Bicycle Routes & Linkages-Development 2,379,425         43,547        
Subtotal 2,379,425         43,547        

Total 15,454,636$     

Table 7 - Previously Planned Parks Projects Summary



City of Franklin 

Public Facilities Needs Assessment and Impact Fee Study 

 

8 

March 2020  
 ~Franklin City 5892072 Impact Fee Services > 101 2018 Update > Deliverables > Franklin Impact Fee Study Mar 4 2020.docxMarch 6 2020.docx~ 

The total cost for planned projects in the update from 2015 exceeded $29.3 million. Several of 

these projects have been completed since the update. The community center had to be 

removed from consideration for impact fees because of changes in state law.    

Table 8 shows how much of Franklin’s previously planned projects are eligible to be funded 
through impact fees. These cost percentages from the prior study apply only to the previously 
planned projects. (New projects would use the process described below for Tables 12 through 14 
to determine the percentages that would be eligible for impact fees for these projects.)  

 

Taking the costs from Tables 6 and 7 and applying the percentages from Table 8 produce the 
following costs in Table 9.  

 

Impact fees are calculated in Table 10. The existing fund balance for parks impact fees is 
deducted from the eligible costs since those dollars were already collected to pay for these 
projects. The population forecast runs only through 2030 to match the planning period for the 
projects.  

Community Parks 36%
Neighborhood Parks 47%
Mini Parks 43%
Special Parks 36%
Trails 62%

Table 8 - Costs Eligible for Impact Fees from Previously Planned Projects

Category Total Project Cost % Eligible $ Eligible
Community Parks 6,225,971$          36% 2,241,350$       
Neighborhood Parks 4,057,555            47% 1,907,051         
Mini Parks 1,738,016            43% 747,347            
Special Parks 1,053,669            36% 379,321            
Trails 2,379,425            62% 1,475,244         
Total 6,750,312$       

Table 9 - Costs Eligible for Impact Fees from Previously Planned Projects



City of Franklin 

Public Facilities Needs Assessment and Impact Fee Study 

 

9 

March 2020  
 ~Franklin City 5892072 Impact Fee Services > 101 2018 Update > Deliverables > Franklin Impact Fee Study Mar 4 2020.docxMarch 6 2020.docx~ 

 

The recommended fees are less than the current fees because many of the projects proposed in 
the prior study have been completed, and no new ones have been added.  

If any new projects are added, this study can be amended by completing the tables below. New 
projects would use the same standards, but the inventory would include all the planned projects, 
and the forecast would include growth through 2040. The new projects would be added in the 
column Additions, and the financial model would calculate what share of the projects would be 
eligible to be recovered through impact fees. The population forecast in Table 11 runs to 2040 for 
new projects since these projects may occur beyond 2030.  

 

Forecast 2030 Population 39,406                
Estimated Current Population 36,516                
Population Growth 2,890                   

Costs Eligible for Impact Fees  $        6,750,312 
Less Existing Park Fund Balance 4,982,477           
Costs to be Charged through Impact Fees 1,767,835$         

Recommended Fee per Person 612$                    

 Development Type 
 Assumed People 

per Unit 
 Forecast 

Units 
 People per 

Development Type 
 Recommended Fee 

per Development Type 
 Total Forecast 

Fees 
Single-family or Two-family Dwelling Unit *                      3.08 723               2,225                      1,883$                           1,361,233$       
Multi-family Dwelling Unit **                      2.00 332               665                         1,223$                           406,602            

Total 1,055            2,890                      1,767,835$       

** Assumes 2 people per unit on average.

 Table 10 - Parks Impact Fees 

 * Extrapolated based on US Census data and Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewage District data. 

 Category 
 Service Standard (per 

1,000 Population) 

  
Population 

Estimate  Current Goal 
 2040 Population 

Estimate  2040 Goal 
Regional and Multi-Community Parks (Acres) 92                                   36,516               3,364              43,576                  4,014                
Community Parks (Acres) 10                                   371                 443                   
Neighborhood Parks (Acres) 6                                     206                 246                   
Mini Parks (Acres) 1                                     43                    51                     
Special Parks (Acres) 10                                   378                 452                   
Trails (Linear Feet) 2,576                             94,051            112,235           

 Category 
 Inventory including 

Planned Projects 
 Current 

Deficiency Additions
 New Growth 

Additions 

 Portion 
Eligible for 

Impact Fees 
Regional and Multi-Community Parks (Acres) 3,364                             -                        -                     -                           N/A
Community Parks (Acres) 371                                -                        -                     -                           N/A
Neighborhood Parks (Acres) 206                                -                        -                     -                           N/A
Mini Parks (Acres) 43                                   -                        -                     -                           N/A
Special Parks (Acres) 378                                -                        -                     -                           N/A
Trails (Linear Feet) 94,051                           -                        -                     -                           N/A
* Standards are based on recommendations in Franklin's Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan

 Table 11 - Service Standards for New Parks Projects 



City of Franklin 

Public Facilities Needs Assessment and Impact Fee Study 

 

10 

March 2020  
 ~Franklin City 5892072 Impact Fee Services > 101 2018 Update > Deliverables > Franklin Impact Fee Study Mar 4 2020.docxMarch 6 2020.docx~ 

The Portion Eligible for Impact Fees, along with the estimated project costs, would then be used 
to calculate the dollar value of the what can be charged through impact fees. The new tables 
would be in the same format as Tables 9 and 10. The calculations to derive the fees would include 
only the portions of projects that address serve new growth; impact fees cannot recover costs 
designed to address existing deficiencies. The calculations would also exclude any portion of a 
project that would exceed 2040 goals. 

All the standards are defined with respect to population. The standards are based on the 
recommendations in Franklin’s latest Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan.  

The next 3 tables and explanations are an example of how the fees could be updated if new 
projects are added. The example projects are not recommendations, just examples to illustrate 
how the amendment process would work. 

Suppose that in addition to the projects in Table 6, Franklin decides to build 50 acres of 
neighborhood parks, 2 mini parks for a total of 6 acres, and 30,000 linear feet of trails. The 
financial model would then apply the existing standards to these new projects to calculate the 
Portion Eligible for Impact Fees. Table 12 below shows the outcome.  

 

Since a part of both the neighborhood parks projects and the trails projects would exceed the 
standards, only some of those costs would be eligible for impact fees.  

Suppose that the neighborhood parks would cost $2,500,000, the mini parks would cost 
$800,000, and the 30,000 feet of trails would cost $400,000. Inputting the costs into the financial 
model produces the results in Table 13 below. The Portion Eligible for Impact Fees from Table 
12 above equals % Eligible in Table 13. Applying those percentages yields the total cost eligible 
for impact fees from the new projects.  

 Category 
 Service Standard (per 

1,000 Population) 

  
Population 

Estimate  Current Goal 

  
Population 

Estimate 
 2040 
Goal 

Regional and Multi-Community Parks (Acres) 92                                   36,516                     3,364                  43,576                4,014       
Community Parks (Acres) 10                                   371                     443           
Neighborhood Parks (Acres) 6                                     206                     246           
Mini Parks (Acres) 1                                     43                       51             
Special Parks (Acres) 10                                   378                     452           
Trails (Linear Feet) 2,576                             94,051               112,235   

 Category 
 Inventory with 

Planned Projects  Current Deficiency Additions
 New Growth 

Additions 

 Portion 
Eligible 

for Impact 
Fees 

Regional and Multi-Community Parks (Acres) 3,364                             -                              -                        -                         N/A
Community Parks (Acres) 371                                -                              -                        -                         N/A
Neighborhood Parks (Acres) 206                                -                              50                       40                        80%
Mini Parks (Acres) 43                                   -                              6                          6                          100%
Special Parks (Acres) 378                                -                              -                        -                         N/A
Trails (Linear Feet) 94,051                           -                              30,000               18,184                61%
* Standards are based on recommendations in Franklin's Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan

 Table 12 - Service Standards for EXAMPLE New Projects 



City of Franklin 

Public Facilities Needs Assessment and Impact Fee Study 

 

11 

March 2020  
 ~Franklin City 5892072 Impact Fee Services > 101 2018 Update > Deliverables > Franklin Impact Fee Study Mar 4 2020.docxMarch 6 2020.docx~ 

 

Adding new projects would cause the impact fees to go up. In this example, an incremental 
$3,036,172 would be added to Table 10’s existing Costs Eligible for Impact Fees. Table 14 
below matches Table 10 except the Costs Eligible for Impact Fees would rise. This rise in turn 
would increase the recommended impact fees below. If we assume the projects would occur 
sometime in the next decade, we would extend the forecast period through 2040. The longer 
forecast period would partially offset the higher costs because the fees would be spread among 
more future residents. The end result would be park impact fees would rise by 10 percent. 

 

Tables 12 through 14 serve only to illustrate how the existing standards, along with the existing 
and planned inventory, would be used to calculate impact fees for new projects. Franklin would 
need to amend this study with specifics of any new project to revise the parks impact fees.  

 

 

 

Category  Total Project Cost % Eligible $ Eligible
Regional and Multi-Community Parks -$                               N/A TBD
Community Parks -                                    N/A TBD
Neighborhood Parks 2,500,000                     80% 1,993,721          
Mini Parks 800,000                        100% 800,000             
Special Parks -                                 N/A TBD
Trails 400,000                        61% 242,451             
Total 3,036,172$       

Table 13 - Costs Eligible for Impact Fees from EXAMPLE New Projects

Forecast 2040 Population 43,576              
Estimated Current Population 36,516              
Population Growth 7,060                

Costs Eligible for Impact Fees *  $      9,786,484 
Less Existing Park Fund Balance 4,982,477         
Costs to be Charged through Impact Fees 4,804,007$      

Recommended Fee per Person 680$                 

 Development Type 
 Assumed 

People per Unit 
 Forecast 

Units 
 People per 

Development Type 
 Recommended Fee 

per Development Type 
 Total Forecast 

Fees 
Single-family or Two-family Dwelling Unit **                    3.08 1,766    5,436                        2,094$                           3,699,085$            
Multi-family Dwelling Unit ***                    2.00 812        1,624                        1,361$                           1,104,922              

Total 2,578    7,060                        4,804,007$            

* Includes the $3,036,172 from the example projects.

** Assumes 2 people per unit on average.

 Table 14 - EXAMPLE Parks Impact Fees 

 * Extrapolated based on US Census data and Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewage District data. 



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  26 September 1, 2021 

APPENDIX D: CITY OF FRANKLIN RESOLUTION 2016-7177,  
EXTENDING TIME LIMIT FOR USING IMPACT FEES 
 

  







Parkland Acquisition Strategy  29 September 1, 2021 

APPENDIX E. SPENDING SCENARIOS THAT DIVERGE FROM THE CORP 
The City of Franklin Public Facilities Needs Assessment and Impact Fee Study (March 2020) also 
provides the maximum percentage and total dollar amount (see Figure 10) that may be funded 
by impact fees for new projects, i.e., projects that are not included in the City’s Comprehensive 
Outdoor Recreation Plan. As shown below, up to 100 percent of total project costs for new Mini 
Parks and 80 percent of total project costs for new Neighborhood Parks can be covered by park 
impact fees, whereas Regional and Community Parks are not eligible for park impact fees. This 
Parkland Acquisition Study operates within the framework of existing City policy. 

 

Figure 10: Costs Eligible for Impact Fees – New Projects (Impact Fee Study, 2020) 

 

Four scenarios that diverge from the Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan (CORP) are 
provided below. These scenarios include a new Neighborhood Park rather than a larger 
Community Park as recommended by the CORP. Implementing one of the following scenarios 
would require an amendment to the CORP as well as an update of the Impact Fee Study. Such 
updates would likely result in a change to the percentage of the project that is eligible for impact 
fees and resulting match requirement. As this report was developed, the Plan Commission and 
Council reviewed and discussed both sets of scenarios – those that implement the CORP (Scenarios 
A through F in the main report) and those that diverge from the CORP (Scenarios G through J 
below). 

 

Figure 11: Scenario G 

 
• New (not previously planned) Neighborhood Park, Southwest quadrant – acquisition and 

improvements 
• Covers all impact fees expiring through 2026; future projects needed to utilize remaining 

park impact fee balance 
• Much smaller match requirement due to higher percentage eligible for impact fees 

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 80% 20%
Land Acquisition 1,000,000$  800,000$        200,000$    
Park Improvements 1,500,000$  1,200,000$      300,000$    
Total 2,500,000$ 2,000,000$      500,000$    

Park Impact Fees Remaining: $353,767

Scenario G - Diverge from CORP with 25-Acre Neighborhood Park

Neighborhood Park, 
Not Previously Planned  

(25 acres)



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  30 September 1, 2021 

Figure 12: Scenario H 

 
• New (not previously planned) Neighborhood Park, Southwest quadrant – acquisition and 

improvements    
• Previously planned Trails – acquisition and/or improvement 
• Neighborhood Park match requirement of $500K; smaller total match requirement due to 

higher percentage eligible for impact fees 
• Covers all impact fees expiring through 2028 and relies on significant future park impact fees 

 

Figure 13: Scenario I 

 
• New (not previously planned) Neighborhood Park, Southwest quadrant – acquisition only 

(land bank for future improvement) 
• Add new facilities to existing Neighborhood Parks (new growth) 
• Previously planned Trails – acquisition and/or improvement 
• Neighborhood Park match requirement of $660K; smaller total match requirement due to 

higher percentage eligible for impact fees 
• Covers all impact fees expiring through 2028  

 

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 80% 20%

Land Acquisition 1,000,000$  800,000$        200,000$    

Park Improvements 1,500,000$  1,200,000$      300,000$    

100% 62% 38%

2,350,000$  1,457,000$      893,000$    

Total 4,850,000$ 3,457,000$      1,393,000$ 
Park Impact Fees Remaining: -$1,103,233

Scenario H - Trails and Diverge from CORP with 25-Acre Neighborhood Park 

Neighborhood Park, 
Not Previously Planned  

(25 acres)

Trails
Land Acquisition & 
Trail Improvement

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 80% 20%
Neighborhood Park, 

Not Previously Planned  
(25 acres) Land Acquisition 1,000,000$  800,000$        200,000$    

100% 80% 20%

2,300,000$  1,840,000$      460,000$    
100% 62% 38%

1,500,000$  930,000$        570,000$    

Total 4,800,000$ 3,570,000$      1,230,000$ 
Park Impact Fees Remaining: -$1,216,233

Trails
Land Acquisition & 
Trail Improvement

Scenario I - Trails, Improve a Neighborhood Park, and 
Diverge from CORP with new 25-Acre Neighborhood Park 

Neighborhood Park, 
Existing or Previously 

Planned 

Park Improvements 
(Pickleball, Ice Rink, etc.)



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  31 September 1, 2021 

Figure 14: Scenario J 

 
• New (not previously planned) Neighborhood Park – acquisition only (land bank for future 

improvement) 
• Add new facilities to existing Neighborhood Parks (new growth) 
• Neighborhood Park match requirement of $892K; smaller total match requirement due to 

higher percentage eligible for impact fees 
• Covers all impact fees expiring through 2028 and relies on significant future park impact fees 

  

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 80% 20%
Neighborhood Park, 

Not Previously Planned  
(25 acres) Land Acquisition 1,000,000$  800,000$        200,000$    

100% 80% 20%

3,460,000$  2,768,000$      692,000$    
Total 4,460,000$ 3,568,000$      892,000$    

Park Impact Fees Remaining: -$1,214,233

Scenario J - Improve a Neighborhood Park, and 
Diverge from CORP with new 25-Acre Neighborhood Park 

Neighborhood Park, 
Existing or Previously 

Planned 

Park Improvements 
(Pickleball, Ice Rink, etc.)



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  32 September 1, 2021 

APPENDIX F: ANNOTATED BIBLIOGRAPHY 
 

Parks Commission Meeting – March 8, 2021 

Input from Parks Commissioners on goals for Parkland Acquisition Strategy: 

• Acquire a larger, multi-purpose park (20+ acres). 
o Focus on southwest portion of city. 
o Objective is to have a multi-purpose space to host events and other activities, such as 

Konkel Park in Greenfield. 
o Acquire parkland sooner, develop/improve park over time. 
o Include the river that runs through Franklin Savanna. 
o Potential to acquire additional land adjacent to Franklin Savanna. 

• Connect all existing trails (or as many as practical).  
o Connect with 116th Street Trail to Franklin Savanna and onward to the Oak Leaf Trail. 
o Explore other potential connections options. 

• Known interest exists in adding dog park and pickleball (8+ courts) to the park system. 
• Coordinate with School District on their planned facilities to avoid duplication of facilities.    
• Explore need for a park department. 

 

Parks Commission Meeting – May 10, 2021 

Input from Parks Commissioners on draft outline of the Parkland Acquisition Strategy: 

• General agreement exists with the parkland acquisition goals laid out in the draft outline.  
• Concern expressed that City matching funds may not be available in order to spend park 

impact fees expiring in 2022. Frustration expressed that the funds are at risk of expiring 
without City action to-date. 

• It would have been better if this process had occurred earlier. Not ideal to have let the park 
impact fees sit for as long as they have. the purpose, however, of this Parkland Acquisition 
Strategy is to put together a plan to guide the Common Council.  

• City Administrator: The City Council is taking this very seriously and is doing capital planning 
in the coming months. Rebating funds is not in the plan. 

• Public Works Director: Some Parks Department projects in the pipeline will use some of the 
expiring funds – Pleasant View Pavilion and 116th Street Trail.  

• Planner: The City Council ultimately will approve how park impact fees are spent, but the 
Parks Commission’s recommendations will be reflected in the Parkland Acquisition Strategy 
document. Now we need to chart a path forward that the Council could consider approving. 

• The City may need a Parks Director or Park Department in the future. 
• Concerns expressed about park system growth without budgeting for maintenance. 
• Motion approved to send the draft outline of the Parkland Acquisition Strategy to the Plan 

Commission to purchase a parcel in the southwest portion of the City for future use. 

 

  



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  33 September 1, 2021 

Plan Commission Meeting – July 22, 2021 

Input from Plan Commissioners on the Parkland Acquisition Strategy Report and Spending 
Scenarios: 

• Emphasis expressed that Parks Commission input is important to the process. 
• Current Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan (CORP) doesn’t reflect current needs of the 

community. Desire to update or amend the CORP. 
• Confirmed need exists for parkland on the southwest side of the City. Precise location needs 

to be determined. Co-locating with existing open space areas could be desirable. 
• Hypothetical park in the center of the city could be desirable. 
• Concern expressed about outside users using City of Franklin parks at edges of the 

community. No consensus on whether the City should avoid locating a park close to adjoining 
municipalities.  

• Potential exists for more intergovernmental and intermunicipal cooperation; don’t duplicate 
efforts or facilities. Increase collaboration with Franklin School District.  

• Scenario I has merit. It includes acquiring land for and improving trails and acquiring land for 
a new 25-acre neighborhood park and improving a new or previously planned neighborhood 
park. 

• Discussion occurred of the need to identify the right-sized parcel in the right location and the 
need to move quickly to acquire the land once it is identified. It only gets more difficult to 
acquire land as time passes. Start with natural resource areas on the southwest side. 

 

City Council Meeting – August 17, 2021 

Input from Common Council members on the Parkland Acquisition Strategy Report and Spending 
Scenarios: 

• Discussion of a dedicated dog park versus dog amenities within a new or existing park. 
Discussion about how either or both would be desirable. The consultant clarified that the initial 
focus of this report is to determine the scale and location for parkland acquisition (Step One 
of the Parkland Acquisition Strategy) and that specific amenities such as dog amenities should 
be addressed as the park project concept is further developed (Step Two).  

• Desire to update or amend the CORP to reflect current needs of the community. 
• Discussion occurred about the need to identify the target parcel(s) and the need to move 

quickly to acquire the land once it is identified 
• Preference expressed for larger parks over smaller parks (such as Mini Parks). 
• Discussion on the possibility of co-locating a Neighborhood Park between both the Waste 

Management Conservation Easement land and the Franklin Savanna. 
• No consensus was provided on a preferred scenario or that would otherwise lead to a 

substantive change in the report. 

 

  



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  34 September 1, 2021 

APPENDIX G: CITY OF FRANKLIN RESOLUTION ADOPTING PARKLAND 
ACQUISITION STRATEGY REPORT 
  



Parkland Acquisition Strategy 35 September 1, 2021 

Adoption Resolution to be inserted upon receipt



Parkland Acquisition Strategy 36 September 1, 2021 

Adoption Resolution to be inserted upon receipt



Parkland Acquisition Strategy  37 September 1, 2021 

APPENDIX H: PARKLAND ACQUISITION STRATEGY MAPS 
  



R1

R2

R3

R1

R1

R4

R7

R6

R1

R1

R1

R5

C3

S7

S1

R4

C4

C1

S2

N1

N2

C2

S5

N3

NS1

N4

M1

M2

S3

NS4

NS5

NS2 N5

NS3

S4

M6

M3

S6

M5

M4

SOUTH COUNTY LINE RD

RYAN RD

PUETZ RD

DREXEL AVE

RAWSON AVE

OAKWOOD RD

LO
VE

R
S

LA
N

E
R

D

LO
OMIS

RD

LO
OMIS

RD

76
TH

ST

92
N

D
ST

11
2T

H
ST

60
TH

ST

COLLEGE AVE

FO
RE

ST
HO

M
E

AV
E

EXISTING PUBLIC PARK SITES
REGIONAL AND MULTI-COMMUNITY PARKS

R1 Root River Parkway

R2 Whitnall Park

R3 Oakwood Park and Golf Course

R4 Milwaukee Co Sports Park

R5 Crystal Ridge

R6 Franklin Park

R7 Grobschmidt Park

COMMUNITY PARKS (at Park Sites):
C1 Lion's Legend Park

C2 Froemming Park

COMMUNITY PLAYFIELDS (at MS or HS Sites):
C3 Franklin High School

C4 Forest Park Middle School

NEIGHBORHOOD PARKS (at Park Sites):
N1 St Martins (Robinwood)

N2 Pleasant View

N3 Jack Workman Park

N4 Southwood Glen

N5 Christine Rathke Memorial Park

NEIGHBORHOOD PLAYGROUNDS (at ES Sites):
NS1 Pleasant View Elementary

NS2 Ben Franklin Elementary

NS3 Country Dale Elementary

NS4 Southwood Glen Elementary

NS5 Robinwood Elementary School

MINI PARKS (at Park Sites):
M1 Lion's Baseball Field

M2 Cascade Creek Park

M3 Friendship Park

M4 Glenn Meadows Park

M5 Dr Lynette Fox Memorial Park

M6 Ken Windl Park

SPECIAL PARKS:
S1 Franklin Woods Nature Center

S2 Franklin Little League Complex

S3 Meadowlands Park

S4 Ernie Lake Park

S5 Mission Hills Neighborhood Wetlands

S6 Market Square

S7 Victory Creek Park

City of Franklin
GIS Department
9229 W. Loomis Rd.
Franklin, WI 53132
www.franklinwi.gov

This map shows the approximate relative location of property boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering, or surveying purposes.

TRN - 1/14/2011
I:\Projects\Planning\Planning_CORP_parks_9_10\Planning_CORP_mapping 4_1.mxd

μ
0 10.25 0.5 0.75 Miles

COMPREHENSIVE OUTDOOR RECREATION PLAN

MAP 4.1 EXISTING PUBLIC OUTDOOR RECREATION
SITES: 2010

Legend
City Boundary

Water

Existing Trails

R6

R1

R1

R1

R7

R

RR11

MM11

RYRR AYY N RD

DREXEL

RAWAA SON AVAA E

D RD

76
TH

ST

60
TH

ST

COLLEGE AAVVVVAAA EEE

RR22
R5

LOO
OOMIS

RD

R3

R1

R11

PU

RR4

RR44

C2

PUETZ RD

C1
C3

EL AVAA E

C4

C3 N3

M3

N5

NS3

1

NS2

LO

NN44
NS4NS4

M2

4

M5

RAWAA

M66

FO
RE

S

S1

M3

S2S3

S7

N2

NS1

M4

S5

N1NNSS55

S33

S6

S4

LO
VE

R
S

LA
N

EE
R

D

1/4-Mile or 1/2-Mile Park Service Radii

Regional & Multi-Community Parks

1/2-Mile Park Service Radii - Active Recreation

1/2-Mile Park Service Radii - Passive Recreation



Chapter 5: Land Use 

M
app 5.7::  Futuree Landd Usee M

app 20255 

Franklin Com
prehensive Plan Final D

raft Septem
ber 2009 

 
5-61 

1/4-Mile or 1/2-Mile Park Service Radii

1/2 Mile Buffer-Regional &
Multi-Community Parks





Franklin Savanna
(Milwaukee County)

Root River Parkway

W Ryan Rd

S 7
6th

 St

S 9
2n

d S
t

W Oakwood Rd S 6
0th

 St

S 1
12

th 
St

W County Line RdEight Mile Rd

State Hwy 100

S 1
24

th
 St

US Hwy 4
5

State
 Hwy 3

6
W Lo

om
is R

d

100th St

S 1
16

th 
St

S 6
8th

 St

S 9
6th

 St

S 9
4th

 St

County Line Rd

W Hilltop Ln

Stonewood Dr

W Bosch Ln

Loomis Dr

W Ryan Pl

Briarwood Dr

S 8
0th

 St

State
 Hwy 3

6

US
 H

wy
 45

City of Franklin 
Parkland Acquisition Analysis

City of Franklin
City Owned Open Space
Waste Management Future Conservation
Land
Environmental Corridor (SEWRPC 2015)
County Owned Park Land
Surface Water
All Parks and Open Space

1,000
Feet

Shaping places, shaping change

VANDEWALLE &ASSOCIATES INC.

Data Sources: FEMA, SEWRPC, Milwaukee County,
City of Franklin, US Census Bureau, USDA

Date: 4/20/2021



Franklin Savanna
(Milwaukee County)

Root River Parkway

W Ryan Rd

S 7
6th

 St

S 9
2n

d S
t

W Oakwood Rd S 6
0th

 St

S 1
12

th 
St

W County Line RdEight Mile Rd

State Hwy 100

S 1
24

th
 St

US Hwy 4
5

State
 Hwy 3

6
W Lo

om
is R

d

100th St

S 1
16

th 
St

S 6
8th

 St

S 9
6th

 St

S 9
4th

 St

County Line Rd

W Hilltop Ln

Stonewood Dr

W Bosch Ln

Loomis Dr

W Ryan Pl

Briarwood Dr

S 8
0th

 St

State
 Hwy 3

6

US
 H

wy
 45

Potential Park Sites
Franklin Parkland Acquisition Analysis

Existing Land Use
City of Franklin
City Owned Open Space
Waste Management Future Conservation
Land
Environmental Corridor (SEWRPC 2015)
County Owned Park Land

Existing Land Use
Agricultural and Open Lands
Single-Family Residential
 Two-Family Residential
Multi-Family Residential
Commercial
Industrial
Governmental and Institutional
Transportation, Communication, Utilities
Recreational
Wetlands
Woodlands
Surface Water

1,000
Feet

Shaping places, shaping change

VANDEWALLE &ASSOCIATES INC.

Data Sources: FEMA, SEWRPC, Milwaukee County,
City of Franklin, US Census Bureau, USDA

Date: 4/20/2021



Franklin Savanna
(Milwaukee County)

Root River Parkway

W Ryan Rd

S 7
6th

 St

S 9
2n

d S
t

W Oakwood Rd S 6
0th

 St

S 1
12

th 
St

W County Line RdEight Mile Rd

State Hwy 100

S 1
24

th
 St

US Hwy 4
5

State
 Hwy 3

6
W Lo

om
is R

d

100th St

S 1
16

th 
St

S 6
8th

 St

S 9
6th

 St

S 9
4th

 St

County Line Rd

W Hilltop Ln

Stonewood Dr

W Bosch Ln

Loomis Dr

W Ryan Pl

Briarwood Dr

S 8
0th

 St

State
 Hwy 3

6

US
 H

wy
 45

Potential Park Sites
Franklin Parkland Acquisition Analysis

Future Land Use
City of Franklin
City Owned Open Space
Waste Management Future Conservation
Land
Environmental Corridor (SEWRPC 2015)
County Owned Park Land

Future Land Use
Areas of Natural Resource Features
Business Park
Commercial
Communication and Utilities
Industrial
Institutional
Landfill
Light Manufacturing
Mixed Use
Recreational
Residential
Residential - Multi-Family
Transportation
Water 1,000

Feet
Shaping places, shaping change

VANDEWALLE &ASSOCIATES INC.

Data Sources: FEMA, SEWRPC, Milwaukee County,
City of Franklin, US Census Bureau, USDA

Date: 4/20/2021


	01 2021-0909 Plan Commission Agenda (REVISED 08-31-21)
	02 2021-0805 PC Minutes - Draft
	03 Item C.1._Bear-Boomtown_RZ
	01 09-09-21 PC Report Boomtown Rezoning
	02 Bear Development Ryan Road Duplex Condos (approx. 12000 W. Loomis Rd.) Rezone 8-25-21
	03 Planning Map_Combined
	Planning Map_Aerial
	Planning Map_Locator

	04 application
	05 project summary
	06 rezoning exhibit_ crop
	07 CSM No 9338 - sheet 4

	04 Item_D.1._Prusinski_Site Plan Amd
	01 2021-09-09 PC Report - Prusinski Site Plan amendment
	02 Prusinski accessory bldg. addition SP A 8-25-21
	03 Planning Map_Combined
	Planning Map_Aerial
	Planning Map_Locator

	04 responses to staff comments
	05 building elevations-floor plan
	06 Summary-survey-square footage
	project summary
	11610 W Rawson survey with new building
	square footage - existing building


	05 Item_D.2._Parkland Acquisition Study
	01 2021-09-09 PC Staff Report - Parkland Aquistion Study
	02 Franklin Park Strategy Report - Final - 9.1.21




